AN APPROACH TO IDENTIFY TARGETS OF BREAST CANCER STEM CELLS

A FUNCTIONAL GENOMICS APPROACH TO IDENTIFY NOVEL THERAPEUTIC TARGETS OF MAMMARY TUMOUR-INITIATING CELLS

By

DAVID W. GLUDISH, Hons.B.Sc.

A Thesis

Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies

In Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements

For the Degree

Master of Science

McMaster University

© Copyright by David W. Gludish, September 2007

MASTER OF SCIENCE (2007)

McMaster University

(Biochemistry and Biomedical Sciences)

Hamilton, Ontario

TITLE:A Functional Genomics Approach to Identify NovelTherapeutic Targets of Mammary Tumour-Initiating CellsAUTHOR:David W. Gludish, Hons.B.Sc. (McMaster University)

SUPERVISOR: John A. Hassell, Ph.D.

NUMBER OF PAGES: 120

To my family,

this work has been for you.

ABSTRACT

Much interest has recently accumulated of the role of adult stem cells in both normal tissue homeostasis and carcinogenesis. Whereas normal and cancerous mammary epithelial stem cells have been identified and isolated from bulk primary tissue, little remains known about their regulation in vivo. Here we describe the molecular profile of mammary epithelial stem cells cultured in vitro and that of their tumourigenic counterparts, breast cancer stem cells. Our studies of gene transcription reveal potential mechanisms that may cooperate in the regulation of normal and cancer stem cells in vitro, and may also reflect their in vivo behaviour. These data bear consequences for the design of novel breast cancer therapeutics, as cancer stem cells are thought to resist conventional treatments and persist thereafter, causing disease relapse and seeding metastases. To address this issue we have devised a functional genomics approach to screen for novel biomarkers and therapeutic targets of breast cancer modeled in vitro; this culture system is centered on bona fide stem cells and may therefore offer improved relevance to human disease when compared with breast cancer cell lines.

iv

ACKOWLEDGEMENTS

I am grateful to my supervisor, John Hassell, for his confidence in my potential, and for the opportunity to pursue a promising research project with real value to real people. He has provided consistent support and a rigorous training environment, and together his efforts have helped to shape my development as a scientist.

I offer sincere thanks to Drs. André Bédard and Dino Trigatti, the members of my supervisory committee, who have supported me throughout my scientific training. I am further grateful to Drs. Justin Nodwell and Gerry Wright, as well as other members and administrative staff of the Department of Biochemistry and Biomedical Sciences, for their assistance in the completion of this work. Special thanks to Marie Colbert for all your help.

I am fortunate to have worked with scientists of exceptional talent, whose passion for science inspires similar enthusiasm in their colleagues. I owe gratitude to JiHou Xin, my first mentor in molecular cloning, who is a formidable source of scientific knowledge and a valued friend. As a pupil of the "Brute Force School of Cloning" I must also thank Dr. Bojana Bojovic for her support and interest in my studies, for long academic discussions, and for demonstrating the discipline necessary to succeed in science. I am especially grateful for her patience and kindness, and I look forward to our lasting friendship.

v

I owe profound thanks to Natasza Kurpios, a mentor, colleague, and my best friend, whose support and passion have made this thesis a reality.

I also extend my gratitude to Adele Girgis-Gabardo, whose tissue culture skills have meant the success of our pursuits for many years, and to Steve Rogers and Antonija Kreso for technical assistance and friendship.

Finally, I am grateful to Maria Barcelon, Shahab Shahnazari, and Gina Fidalgo for their hard-earned microarray data generated by delicate technique. The strength and consistency of this data has made possible the analyses reported here.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Descriptive noteii
Dedicationiii
ABSTRACT iv
ACKOWLEDGEMENTSv
LIST OF TABLESix
MULTIPLE AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS
PREFACE
CHAPTER 1
Transcriptional profiling of mouse mammary epithelial cells: a stemness gene
signature for mammospheres and tumourspheres15
INTRODUCTION16
Mammary gland biology16
Functional evidence for mammary epithelial stem cells
A system to culture and study stem cells in vitro
Adult stem cells may be targets for oncogenic transformation20
The revised Cancer Stem Cell hypothesis
Mouse tumour-initiating cells propagated in vitro
RESULTS
A mammosphere culture system to investigate mammary gland development in
vitro
Mammospheres preferentially express genes characteristic of stem cells27
Mammospheres induced to differentiate in vitro exhibit evidence of lineage-bias
differentiation
Evidence for the contrasting functions of canonical and non-canonical Wnt/ β -
catenin signaling in mammospheres and differentiated mammospheres
Transcriptional profile of mouse mammary tumour-initiating cells cultured in
vitro
DISCUSSION40
Mammospheres are a versatile system to study stem cell process
Mammospheres as a model to explore the molecular control of mammary gland
development41
Mammospheres as a model to study signal transduction pathways directing
mammary gland development43
A sphere-based culture model to investigate cancer stem cell biology in vitro53
CHAPTER 2
A functional genomics approach to identify novel therapeutic targets of mammary
tumour-initiating cells
INTRODUCTION
In pursuit of novel breast cancer therapies: functional genomics applied to
cancer stem cells
RESULTS60

A molecular signature for mouse breast cancer stem cells	.60
Expression of tumourness genes in mouse mammary tumours	.61
Derivation of Neu-overexpressing cell line HTN	.61
Preparation of recombinant shRNA lentiviruses	63
Silencing of Neu protein expression in HTN cells by lenti-shRNA infection	65
DISCUSSION	67
A gene signature for candidate cancer stem cells: tumourness genes	67
Use of tumourspheres to screen for novel therapeutic targets	68
MATERIALS AND METHODS	71
Computational analyses	71
Generation of clonable shRNA sequences	72
Production of Recombinant Lentivirus	73
Derivation of Neu-expressing stable cell line HTN	74
Immunocyctochemistry and Immunohistochemistry	75
qRT-PCR	76
Western Immunoblotting	77
Cell culture	78
REFERENCES	.79
APPENDIX 1	.95

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	Ontological analyses of genes preferential to mammospheres
	and mammospheres induced to differentiate

- Table 2List of β-catenin signaling pathway components preferentially
expressed in mammospheres or mammospheres induced to
differentiate
- Table 3Known Wnt/β-catenin target genes are differentially expressed in
mammospheres and differentiated cells

LIST OF FIGURES

CHAPTER 1

Figure 1	Mammospheres express genes in common with cells of the wild type mammary gland.
Figure 2	Mammospheres preferentially express genes characteristic of stem cells from multiple tissues.
Figure 3	Differential expression of tenascinC in mammospheres and mammospheres induced to differentiate
Figure 4	Human and mouse mammospheres preferentially express few genes in common
Figure 5	Schematic of the canonical and non-canonical Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway.
Figure 6	Differential expression of PEA3 and its subfamily members in mammospheres and differentiated mammospheres
Figure 7	Schematic of tumoursphere culture model
Figure 8	Tumourspheres express an amplified stem cell signature
Figure 9	Tumourspheres display similarity to both CD44+ and CD24+ prospective human breast cancer stem cells

LIST OF FIGURES

CHAPTER 2

- Figure 10 Tumourspheres express genes in common with primary Her2/Neu-induced mammary tumors: selection of *tumourness* genes
- Figure 11 Her2/Neu-induced mouse mammary tumours express tumourness genes
- Figure 12 Expression of Rat neu cDNA transgene in tumourspheres arising from MMTV-Neu (N202) primary tumours
- Figure 13 Expression analyses of Her2/Neu protein in engineered human cell line HTN
- Figure 14 Linear response titration of Neu⁺ lysates
- Figure 15 Determination of lentiviral titer in HTN cells
- Figure 16 Silencing of Neu expression by Lenti-shRNA construct R1 (biological experiment #1)
- Figure 17 Silencing of Neu expression by Lenti-shRNA construct R1 (biological experiment #2)
- Figure 18 Silencing of Neu expression by Lenti-shRNA construct R2 (biological experiment #1)
- Figure 19 Silencing of Neu expression by Lenti-shRNA construct R2 (biological experiment #2)
- Figure 20 Silencing of Neu expression by Lenti-shRNA construct R3 (biological experiment #1)
- Figure 21 Silencing of Neu expression by Lenti-shRNA construct R3 (biological experiment #2)

Figure 22 Neu expression in HTN cells following lenti-shRNA treatment

M.Sc. Thesis - D.W.Gludish

MULTIPLE AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The data reported in this thesis includes contributions from others. Microarray expression profiling, including cell culture and RNA isolation, was performed by Maria Barcelon (mammospheres), Shahab Shahnazari (tumourspheres), and Gina Fidalgo (primary mammary and tumour tissue). RNA was hybridized to Affymetrix GeneChips at the Ottawa Genome Centre. Data files were imported, manipulated, and analyzed by David Gludish. Contributions from these individuals therefore includes: Figures 1, 2, 4, 8, 9, and 10, and Tables 1, 2, and 3.

Other contributions:

- Figure 3AB David Gludish and Maria Barcelon performed immunocytochemistry in parallel
- Figure 6AB Natasza Kurpios
- Figure 11 Primary tissue was isolated and fixed by Natasza Kurpios and Adele Girgis-Gabardo. Immunohistochemistry was performed by David Gludish.

PREFACE

The following dissertation is divided into two chapters and describes a functional genomics approach with the global objective to identify and target breast cancer stem cells. An introduction is given for each chapter to provide background for mammary gland biology, a comprehensive summary of the current literature in the area of normal and cancer stem cell research, and an overview of functional genomics. The first chapter details the global transcriptional profile of mammary epithelial cells and of mammary tumour cells, revealing a "stemness" gene signature expressed in both cell populations, in support of the cancer stem cell hypothesis. Based on the information generated in Chapter I, the second chapter describes a data-mining strategy to define biomarkers of breast cancer, applying a functional genomics approach to test their potential as therapeutic targets. The feasibility of RNAi technology to silence oncogenes is demonstrated.

CHAPTER 1

TRANSCRIPTIONAL PROFILING OF MOUSE MAMMARY EPITHELIAL CELLS: A STEMNESS GENE SIGNATURE FOR MAMMOSPHERES AND TUMOURSPHERES

INTRODUCTION

Mammary gland biology

The murine mammary gland is embedded in a pad of fat and stromal cells, and at birth consists of a primitive system of branched epithelial ducts containing a continuous hollow lumen (Hogg *et al.*, 1983) that ends and opens at the nipple. The mammary gland is a unique developmental system as much of its development occurs post-natally, beginning during puberty at about 5 weeks of age. Fueled by cell proliferation (Bresciani, 1965), the mammary ducts of a pubertal mouse expand and invade the fat pad with bulbous terminal end buds (Silberstein and Daniel, 1982), undergo morphogenesis, and by sexual maturity at 8-10 weeks have formed a network of subtending ducts defined by a bilayered epithelial sheet (Stingl *et al.*, 2005). The hollow interior (lumen) of each mammary duct is lined by an inner layer of luminal epithelial cells surrounded by an outer layer of myoepithelial cells (Silberstein, 2001).

Following puberty, the mammary gland enters a resting state that persists until pregnancy. Hormone signals of pregnancy stimulate the formation of alveolar buds that develop at regular intervals along the surface of the subtending ducts; these buds extend (Brisken and Rajaram, 2006), invading and filling the mammary fat pad in preparation for milk production. Luminal cells connect tightly to maintain a leak-free duct (Daniel *et al.*, 1995). Lactogenic hormones signal the differentiation of specialized luminal cells called alveolar cells that are responsible for secreting milk proteins into the lumen (Brisken and Rajaram, 2006). Myoepithelial cells attach the luminal cells to the basement membrane, and are connected laterally to each other (Daniel *et al.*, 1995); during lactation, myoepithelial cells contract to collapse the lumen and expel milk from the alveoli through the ducts (Adriance *et al.*, 2005).

Following the cessation of suckling by weaning, the mother's ducts swell with milk (Wilde *et al.*, 1999), signaling involution - the death by apoptosis of most epithelial cells in the mammary gland and concurrent remodeling of the fat pad (Wilde *et al.*, 1999). Following involution, the mammary gland is returned to a state similar to that of the virgin gland until the next pregnancy (Daniel and Smith, 1999); this cycle of tissue regeneration can be repeated many times throughout the life of a female mouse.

Functional evidence for mammary epithelial stem cells

Similar to other regenerating tissues like skin and the intestinal lining (Cotsarelis, 2006), the proliferative potential of the mammary gland is governed by a population of adult stem cells that are present following development and persist throughout the life of the animal (Smith and Chepko, 2001). The existence of these mammary epithelial stem cells was first shown in elegant transplant experiments performed decades ago (Deome *et al.*, 1959) wherein the mammary fat pads of virgin female mice were surgically cleared of existing epithelium and then injected with primary mammary epithelial cells from donor syngeneic mice (orthotopic allograft). To stimulate proliferation of the graft, recipient females were put through pregnancy and their fat pads were harvested at parturition, revealing a reconstituted mammary ductal and branching structure; this process could be

repeated multiple times demonstrating a cell population with extensive self-renewal capacity (Daniel, 1973). However, despite the power and relative simplicity of this experimental design, it has proven difficult to identify, isolate and characterize mammary epithelial stem cells (Dontu *et al.*, 2003b).

By definition, stem cells live somewhat indefinitely within adult mammalian tissue, divide rarely (Furukawa, 1998), and possess the autonomy of self-renewal, that is, cell division without commitment to differentiation (Liu *et al.*, 2005). Under normal conditions, stem cell self-renewal is regulated by the interaction of these cells with their niche (Fuchs *et al.*, 2004), a defined environment that signals to the stem cell about the status of the surrounding tissue (Dor and Melton, 2004). Such signals are difficult to study *in vivo*, and thus methods to isolate and study stem cells *in vitro* may allow the characterization of discrete signaling pathways that govern their maintenance, self-renewal, and differentiation (Dontu *et al.*, 2003a; Stingl *et al.*, 2006a). However, stem cells are prone to differentiate when removed from their niche (Scadden, 2006), complicating their analysis *in vitro* (Simon-Assmann *et al.*, 2007).

A system to culture and study stem cells in vitro

It was first discovered that when cultured *in vitro* with EGF (epidermal growth factor) and bFGF (basic-fibroblast growth factor), primitive neural cells give rise to non-adherent "neurosphere" suspension colonies (Reynolds and Weiss, 1992; Vescovi *et al.*, 1993). Neurospheres are cultured in serum-free stem cell media and consist of

undifferentiated neural stem cells (Reynolds and Weiss, 1996) that can be induced to form the various differentiated cell types of the mature nervous system. Following these landmark experiments, we employed a similar approach to propagate normal mouse mammary epithelial stem cells in vitro (Kurpios, 2005). Under these conditions, primary mammary cells give rise to non-adherent "mammospheres" that are clonal in origin and which are composed of progenitors and stem cells. These points were demonstrated by the engraftment of mammospheres into the cleared fat pad of recipient mice, followed by stimulation with pregnancy. Echoing decades-old, classical studies of mammary gland stem cells these transplants result in outgrowths resembling normal mammary gland structure (Daniel, 1973; Deome et al., 1959; Kurpios, 2005; Personal communication: Kurpios and Hassell, 2006). Furthermore, mammosphere-derived outgrowths secrete milk, demonstrating the utility of mammospheres to culture primitive mammary epithelial cells that are capable of multi-lineage differentiation *in vivo*. Importantly, tissue fragments removed surgically from mammosphere-derived outgrowths can be serially passaged in vivo; these grafts give rise to a full mammary structure through each successive orthotopic transplant, demonstrating the presence within mammospheres of bona fide mammary epithelial stem cells capable of extensive self-renewal (Kurpios, 2005). Importantly, mammosphere cells can also be induced to differentiate *in vitro* by culturing them in complete medium that contains serum and lacks growth factors EGF and bFGF. This process may reflect their behaviour during differentiation in vivo, and thus mammospheres may serve as a valuable tool to study normal mammary gland function *in vitro*.

Adult stem cells may be targets for oncogenic transformation

Irrespective of their function, every adult tissue stem cell is maintained in an undifferentiated state by cells and signals in its immediate vicinity, presumably over a period of years or longer. Thus, it seems that adult stem cells are ideal candidates to accumulate genetic lesions over time, eventually resulting in oncogenic transformation (Tan *et al.*, 2006). Since stem cells are armed with extensive proliferative capabilities and may be intrinsically resistant to apoptosis (Mueller *et al.*, 2006; Young *et al.*, 1999), perhaps these cells need only collect mutations that relieve them of regulation by their niche for transformation (Moore and Lemischka, 2006). If true, an adult stem cell bearing lesions within developmental or mitogen-responsive signaling pathways appears the ultimate perpetrator of oncogenesis.

If cancer arises in stem cells, a hypothesis that is compatible with the "multiple hit" model of carcinogenesis, it is conceivable that the resulting tumour would display a heterogeneous cell population reflective of normal tissue differentiation. Indeed, there exists a cellular hierarchy within many human malignancies that often mimics the cytoarchitecture of the adult tissue in which the tumour arose (Wang and Dick, 2005). These findings supported a role for stem cells in the classical view of transformation and spawned the earliest incarnation of the cancer stem cell hypothesis, which in part sought to account for the heterogeneity observed among cells resident in a presumably clonal tumour (Bruce and Van Der Gaag, 1963). Thus, it seemed that cancer stem cells could be fundamentally defined as those cells at the top of the hierarchy, with the capacity to differentiate, albeit aberrantly, into phenotypically distinct progeny that populate the tumour. However, the cancer stem cell hypothesis has evolved more recently to accommodate increasing evidence that this cellular heterogeneity may delineate functional subpopulations of cancer cells (Tan *et al.*, 2006).

The revised Cancer Stem Cell hypothesis

Normal adult stem cells are rare, divide infrequently, and are the only cells able to regenerate their tissue of residence, functioning in tissue repair and homeostasis (Dor and Melton, 2004). Similarly, in addition to being able to recapitulate phenotypically diverse progeny, it is possible that cancer stem cells are the only cells in a given tumour with the ability to initiate (or re-initiate) the disease (Wang and Dick, 2005). Thus, perhaps cancer stem cells are better defined functionally, as tumour-initiating cells (Neuzil et al., 2007). Consistent with this notion, it was found that only a rare subset of human acute myeloid leukemia cells could transfer the disease into naïve immunodeficient mice in xenograft assays (Bonnet and Dick, 1997; Lapidot et al., 1994). Thereafter multiple groups found tumour-initiating cells at low frequency in a variety of human solid tumours (Al-Hajj et al., 2003; Collins et al., 2005; Kim et al., 2005; Li et al., 2007a; Prince et al., 2007; Singh et al., 2003; Singh et al., 2004b). Secondary tumour xenografts often mimic the hierarchy observed within the primary tumour of origin, raising the possibility that rare tumour-initiating cells are cancer stem cells that maintain the potential to differentiate into multiple classes of progeny. These results suggest that like normal stem cells, cancer stem cells may also divide infrequently, fueling tumour growth through the expansion of their descendants, transformed progenitors or transit amplifying cells. It has been suggested that the aberrant differentiation of these transformed progenitor cells results in the cellular heterogeneity observed in human tumours (Bonnet and Dick, 1997; Singh *et al.*, 2004a).

The identification of cancer stem cells has therapeutic implications. Clobal observations about normal stem cells may help to explain why conventional therapies targeting the bulk tumour cells often fail: chemo- and radiotherapy may spare rare cancer stem cells, leading to disease relapse (Wicha *et al.*, 2006). Resistance to radiation has been reported for normal and cancer stem/progenitor cells in brain and bone marrow (Hambardzumyan *et al.*, 2006; Mahmud *et al.*, 2005), and in mammary epithelial progenitor cells, measurable radio-resistance seems to be conferred by β -catenin activation (Woodward *et al.*, 2007). Furthermore, cancer stem cells may be responsible for seeding metastases at sites distant from the original tumour making their characterization a prerequisite for the design and validation of effective therapeutics (Hendrix *et al.*, 2007; Li *et al.*, 2007b). However, by their nature cancer stem cells are rare in human tumours (as measured by widely employed xenograft transplant assays in immunodeficient NOD-SCID mice), complicating the study of these cells.

Mouse tumour-initiating cells propagated in vitro

Increasing evidence suggested the existence of cancer stem cells in human tumours, though their observed frequency was low. Since primary tumours from transgenic mice might provide a more abundant and renewable source of cancer stem cells, our lab previously attempted to culture these cells *in vitro* under conditions similarly employed for neurospheres and mammospheres (Kurpios, 2005; Reynolds and Weiss, 1992). In these previous studies, we found that mouse MMTV-Neu tumours (Guy et al., 1992), resulting in part from the overexpression of the Her2/Neu receptor tyrosine kinase, gave rise to tumourspheres in vitro; the cells comprising tumourspheres could reinitiate the disease after orthotopic transplant in syngeneic hosts (Kurpios, 2005). Surprisingly, we found that very few tumoursphere cells were required to seed new tumours, in contrast to results previously obtained with cells from human tumours (Al-Hajj et al., 2003). Subsequent data from our lab showed that both tumourspheres and the primary tumours they derive from bear a high fraction of tumour-initiating cells, and are therefore valuable to study parameters of the cancer stem cell hypothesis (Kurpios, 2005).

Here we report that mammospheres and their differentiated counterparts yield rich studies of global gene expression, detailing changes in mRNA abundance induced during their *in vitro* differentiation programme. Markers of adult stem cells including CD49f (α6-integrin) and CD34 (Ivanova *et al.*, 2002; Ramalho-Santos *et al.*, 2002) are expressed at high levels in mammosphere-resident cells, while their expression is all but

extinguished in cells induced to differentiate. Likewise, well-known markers of mammary epithelial differentiation such as α -smooth muscle actin are expressed at low basal levels in mammospheres and their expression is significantly upregulated during their *in vitro* differentiation programme, helping to validate this *in vitro* model as a useful surrogate for studying mammary gland differentiation. We have also identified candidate stemness genes involved in mammospheres may also be used to study these processes. Moreover we describe the gene expression profiles of mouse tumourspheres in comparison with mammosphere cells and those induced to differentiate *in vitro*. Our results suggest that tumourspheres exhibit an amplified stem cell phenotype by comparison to mammospheres. We propose experiments to use the tumoursphere system as a tool to test many facets of the cancer stem cell hypothesis, including the involvement of candidate genes in tumoursphere self-renewal or tumourigenic potential.

RESULTS

A mammosphere culture system to investigate mammary gland development *in vitro*

We previously showed that cultured mammospheres contain functional mammary epithelial stem cells capable of self-renewal and multi-lineage differentiation, and may therefore serve as a useful surrogate for *in vivo* mammary gland development (Kurpios, 2005). We hypothesized that defining their global transcriptional profile would reveal mechanisms of mammary stem cell renewal or differentiation. To this end our lab

previously derived three replicate mammosphere cultures, where each culture was a pool of mammary glands from three virgin FVB mice aged 5-7 weeks (Personal communication: Kurpios and Hassell, 2006). Total cellular RNA was isolated from mammospheres and their descendant cells induced to differentiate *in vitro* (differentiated mammospheres), and was prepared as required by Affymetrix for hybridization to their MOE430 GeneChip microarrays (see Materials and Methods). Judged by present calls in each of the three replicate samples, mammospheres expressed 10,427 transcripts, roughly half of the 22,690 total transcripts on the MOE430A chip. Similarly, 8,470 genes were expressed in differentiated mammosphere cells.

During the transition to *in vitro* tissue culture, cells isolated from primary animal tissue can undergo gross changes in gene expression and cellular phenotype. Hence to exclude the possibility that genes expressed in mammospheres or differentiated cells were induced as an artifact of cell culture, genes expressed in these samples were compared with the global gene expression profiles of primary mouse mammary glands. In an effort to capture a cohort of transcripts representative of mammary gland development and overall homeostasis, total RNA deriving from mammary glands of virgin mice aged 5 weeks (pubertal), 10 weeks (sexual maturity), and 15 weeks (resting mammary gland) was prepared and hybridized to MOE430A chips as described above. Six chips in total – two biological replicates for each timepoint – were hybridized with pools of RNA isolated from the mammary glands of 5 mice each. The outcome of these Affymetrix GeneChip analyses is reported in Figure 1A. As assessed by consistent present

calls in each cell compartment, 5286 genes were expressed in common among mammospheres, those induced to differentiate, and the primary mammary gland. A total of 2797 transcripts were found to be expressed by cells cultured *in vitro* (mammospheres and differentiated cells) but not *in vivo*. Likewise, 553 transcripts were expressed by mammary tissue *in vivo*, but not by cultured cells *in vitro*. Thus, greater than eighty percent of all 6305 genes expressed in the mammary gland were also expressed in mammospheres and those induced to differentiate, supporting our claim that mammospheres may serve as a model to study normal mammary gland processes *in vitro*.

To better understand the molecular profile of mammospheres, we further analyzed the 10,427 transcripts expressed in these cells. We found that 950 genes were preferentially expressed in mammospheres at levels at least twofold higher than in mammosphere cells induced to differentiate *in vitro* (Table S1); 395 of these 950 transcripts were reproducibly expressed in the primary mammary gland (Figure 1C). Also, among these 950 genes preferential to mammospheres, 440 were not detectably expressed in at least one of three replicate samples from mammospheres induced to differentiate, further confirming that these genes are negatively regulated during *in vitro* differentiation.

The Gene Ontology consortium curates the literature to organize all genes (in the mouse genome, for example) into categories which classify their function. Thus to assist in assigning an overall phenotype to mammosphere-derived cells, we performed ontological clustering in which the 950 transcripts preferential to mammospheres were

used to query gene ontology Biological Process categories. Overall, the mammosphere expression profile was consistent with a proliferating cell population capable of extracellular matrix remodeling. Specifically, processes such as cell cycle, DNA replication, and collagen catabolism were overrepresented in mammospheres (Table 1, left column). Conversely, the expression profile of differentiated mammospheres was consistent with cellular morphogenesis, homing, homeostasis and energy production; significant overlap was found with specific processes such as cell adhesion, chemotaxis, cell death, and generation of precursor metabolites and energy (Table 1, right column).

Mammospheres preferentially express genes characteristic of stem cells

Our lab previously demonstrated the existence of mammary stem cells within mammospheres and proposed that genes preferential to these cells include markers of stem/progenitor cells (Kurpios, 2005). Indeed, mammospheres express the cell surface proteins used to enrich for primary mammary epithelial stem cells, a subpopulation identified recently as CD24^{-/low} and either CD49f^{high} or β 1-integrin^{high} (Shackleton *et al.*, 2006; Stingl *et al.*, 2006a). Interestingly, we discovered that mammospheres exhibit high preferential expression of mammary epithelial stem cell marker CD49f/integrin- α 6 (32-fold), mammary stem cell fate regulator Notch-1 and its ligand Delta-like-1 (3.4-fold and 6.1-fold, respectively) (Dontu *et al.*, 2004), stemness gene tenascinC (2.3-fold), and hematopoietic stem cell markers CD34 (8.3-fold), CD38 (3.2-fold), and c-Kit (4.6-fold) (Baum *et al.*, 1992; Civin *et al.*, 1996; Hao *et al.*, 1998; Ikuta and Weissman, 1992;

Terstappen *et al.*, 1991; Uchida and Weissman, 1992). Mammospheres also express the breast/prostate cancer stem cell marker CD44 (Al-Hajj *et al.*, 2003; Collins *et al.*, 2005) and the neural/brain tumour stem cell marker CD133/Prominin-1 (Singh *et al.*, 2003; Singh *et al.*, 2004b).

These observations prompted us to further inquire whether mammospheres share more significant overlap with other stem cell populations, with the goal to establish a set of genes in common which may globally determine the stem cell phenotype. Notably, two groups have reported the global gene expression profiles of mouse neural, embryonic, and hematopoietic stem cells (Ivanova et al., 2002; Ramalho-Santos et al., 2002), while two other groups characterized the transcriptional profile of murine hair follicle stem cells (Morris et al., 2004; Tumbar et al., 2004). Thus we compared the 950 transcripts preferential to mammospheres with the genes common to these other stem cell populations (Figure 2). "Stemness" genes, a consensus set of transcripts commonly enriched in neural, embryonic, and hematopoietic stem cells, shared significant overlap with genes preferential to mammospheres - 40 transcripts or 4.21% (Figure 2A). Included in these overlapping genes were mammary epithelial stem cell marker CD49f/integrin-α6 (Stingl et *al.*, 2006a), transcription factor E2F5, β -catenin stabilizer Pin1 (Ryo et *al.*, 2001) and the direct β -catenin target gene CyclinD1 (Rowlands et al., 2003), and TGF β target gene TGFb1i4 (Shibanuma et al., 1992). The strength of this overlap suggests that, similar to other stem cell populations, genes preferential to mammospheres function to determine the stem/progenitor cell phenotype of mammosphere-resident cells. We

further investigated the transcriptional overlap of mammospheres with individual stem cell populations to evaluate the similarity of various tissue compartments to mammary epithelial stem cells cultured *in vitro*. These analyses revealed that 6.52%, 8.35%, and 5.59% of genes (corresponding to 39, 68, and 19 transcripts) common to neural, embryonic, and hematopoietic stem cells, respectively, were found to overlap with genes preferential to mammospheres (Figure 2B-D).

Like mouse mammary epithelial stem cells (Stingl *et al.*, 2006a), hair follicle stem cells can be purified with antibodies to CD49f/integrin- α 6 (Blanpain *et al.*, 2004), indicating that these cell populations may share a similar overall expression profile. Indeed, mammospheres shared the highest percentage overlap (14.86% or 11 transcripts) with genes common to hair follicle stem cells reported by two independent investigators (Figure 2E), perhaps reflective of this common phenotype (CD49f^{high}). Among the genes common to hair follicle stem cells and mammospheres were stem cell markers CD34 and tenascinC. To support these analyses, we examined the expression of tenascinC protein in mammospheres and differentiated cells (Figure 3) and found that it was expressed in nearly 80% of mammosphere-resident cells while its expression was extinguished in differentiated cells. Thus, in agreement with previous findings that tenascinC is preferentially expressed in populations of stem/progenitor cells from multiple mouse and human tissue compartments (Dontu *et al.*, 2003a; Ivanova *et al.*, 2002; Morris *et al.*, 2004; Ramalho-Santos *et al.*, 2002; Tumbar *et al.*, 2004), we have verified that it is

similarly preferentially expressed in mouse mammospheres, a population of mammary stem/progenitor cells.

Together with the observation that mammospheres contain functional stem cells, these data argue that mammospheres may be employed to investigate regulation of mammary stem cell renewal *in vitro*, analyses that may facilitate the discovery of conserved mechanisms of stem cell regulation from other tissue compartments.

Mammospheres induced to differentiate *in vitro* exhibit evidence of lineage-bias differentiation

We have observed that many markers of stem cells are preferentially expressed in mammospheres and that 85% of the 6305 genes expressed in the adult mammary gland are also expressed by mammospheres induced to differentiate (Figure 1); these data suggest that mechanisms of mammosphere differentiation *in vitro* might mimic normal differentiation of the mammary gland occurring *in vivo*. We found that 8,470 genes were reproducibly expressed in mammospheres induced to differentiate, among which 525 were preferentially expressed in differentiated mammospheres at levels twofold or higher than those in mammosphere cells (Table S2); 250 of these 525 transcripts were reproducibly expressed in the mammary gland (Figure 1C). Moreover, of the 525 genes preferentially expressed in differentiated mammospheres, 186 were not detectably expressed in at least one of the three replicate samples from mammospheres. The 525 genes preferential to mouse mammospheres induced to differentiate included markers of

the myoepithelial lineage such as α -smooth muscle actin, myosin heavy chain myh9, calponin-2, caldesmon-1, and collagen1- α 1 (Jones *et al.*, 2004; Lazard *et al.*, 1993). Surprisingly, our microarray data revealed that differentiated mammospheres did not preferentially express any known luminal epithelial-specific genes such as cytokeratins-7, -8, -18, -19, or E-cadherin (Jones *et al.*, 2004; Page *et al.*, 1999; Stingl *et al.*, 2005). However, the observation that mammospheres contain stem cells capable of multi-lineage differentiation *in vivo* excludes the possibility that mammospheres are devoid of luminal progenitors and instead suggests that our methods employed to induce differentiation *in vitro* likely favoured myoepithelial morphogenesis.

Over the course of our studies, investigators (Dontu et al., 2003a) reported the serum-free culture and subsequent induced differentiation of human mammary epithelial cells (human mammospheres). While the conditions used to propagate human and mouse mammospheres were very similar, the culture media used to their differentiation was very different: in these experiments the human differentiation conditions included serum-containing media with subsequent treatment with prolactin, while mouse mammospheres were differentiated in the presence of serum alone.

Since the expression profile of mouse differentiated mammospheres revealed an apparent deficit in luminal differentiation, we wondered whether human mammospheres differentiated in the presence of serum and prolactin preferentially expressed genes characteristic of the luminal lineage. Indeed, by contrast to their mouse counterparts, human differentiated mammospheres expressed a gene signature consistent with a

luminal-epithelial phenotype including the structural filament cytokeratin-18 (O'Hare et *al.*, 1991), luminal fate controller GATA3 (Asselin-Labat et *al.*, 2007; Kouros-Mehr et *al.*, 2006), and luminal-specific adhesion protein E-cadherin (Daniel et *al.*, 1995). Surprisingly, however, none of the common myoepithelial lineage markers were preferentially expressed in human differentiated mammospheres suggesting that mammosphere cells differentiated in the presence or absence of prolactin were different. Accordingly, when we compared genes preferential to both human and mouse cells induced to differentiate (Figure 4) we discovered that human and mouse mammospheres preferentially express few genes in common. Among the 12 transcripts common to human and mouse differentiated mammospheres was the secreted inhibitor of canonical Wnt/ β -catenin signaling Sfrp1 (Figure 4B).

An overlap of 37 genes was observed in genes commonly preferential to both human and mouse mammospheres; these transcripts included stemness gene tenascinC and the β -catenin-dependent transcription factor tcf4 (Figure 4A). Interestingly, despite the limited overlap in these studies, genes common to human and mouse mammospheres and differentiated cells support a conserved role for Wnt/ β -catenindependent regulation of mammary gland development and differentiation (discussed below). Furthermore, considering the intrinsic similarity of their origin tissues, it seems likely that the small degree of overlap of genes commonly preferentially expressed in human and mouse differentiated mammospheres highlights differences between the methods employed to induce differentiation *in vitro*. These findings are exciting as they

argue for the ability to biochemically direct the differentiation of mammospheres along one or another lineage *in vitro*, further extending the utility of mammosphere-based assays in the study of normal mammary gland development.

Evidence for the contrasting functions of canonical and non-canonical Wnt/ β -catenin signaling in mammospheres and differentiated mammospheres

Wnt proteins are involved in a complex signaling pathway (Figure 5) that controls stem cell renewal, proliferation, or differentiation of many mammalian tissues (Alonso and Fuchs, 2003; Hari *et al.*, 2002; Ito *et al.*, 2007; Kielman *et al.*, 2002; Kobielak *et al.*, 2007; Korinek *et al.*, 1998; Kubo *et al.*, 2003; Lako *et al.*, 2001; Miyoshi *et al.*, 2002). Furthermore, germline deregulation of the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway causes oncogenic transformation in mice (Bruxvoort *et al.*, 2007; Imbert *et al.*, 2001; Michaelson and Leder, 2001; Tsukamoto *et al.*, 1988) while genetic lesions in Wnt pathway members such as Apc are associated with human malignancies (MacLeod *et al.*, 2007; Nojima *et al.*, 2007). For example, mice which express Wnt-1 or β -catenin in their mammary glands under the control of the MMTV promoter exhibit mammary epithelial hyperplasia that eventually progresses to multiple aggressive adenocarcinomas (Imbert *et al.*, 2001; Michaelson and Leder, 2001; Tsukamoto *et al.*, 1988).

To help understand the contribution of Wnt signaling to the transcriptional profile of mammospheres, we examined Wnt pathway components preferentially expressed in mammospheres or their differentiated counterparts (Table 2). Interestingly, genes that

promote the activation of canonical β-catenin signaling were largely expressed in mammospheres, including secreted Wnt-2, β-catenin-dependent transcription factor Tcf4, and the β-catenin shuttle protein Pin1. Similarly, genes that inhibit canonical signaling were expressed preferentially upon differentiation *in vitro*, including secreted frizzled-related proteins Sfrp1 and Sfrp2, and dapper-1, a protein that binds and sequesters disheveled, preventing signal transduction. More importantly, we found preferential expression of non-canonical Wnt5a and receptors frizzled-8 and frizzled-2 in differentiated mammospheres, suggesting that like in other developmental systems, non-canonical Wnt signaling in mammosphere cells are better equipped than their differentiated descendents to transmit canonical Wnt signals. These observations suggest that mammospheres may be ideally suited to study a role during mammary gland differentiation for Wnt signaling, a pathway that is difficult to study *in vivo* due to its complexity of regulation and critical function during embryonic development.

Our observations are further supported by the discovery that many known target genes of canonical Wnt/ β -catenin signaling are preferentially expressed in mammospheres (Table 3) (El-Tanani *et al.*, 2004; Howe *et al.*, 2001; Ziegler *et al.*, 2005). Known direct targets of β -catenin-dependent transcription that are preferential to mammospheres include ETS gene PEA3 (38-fold), Cox2/Ptgs2 (37-fold), the runt-related osteoblastic transcription factor Runx2 (6-fold), CyclinD1 (5.6-fold), differentiation factor

regulator Id2 (5.4-fold), osteopontin (2.5-fold), c-jun (2.3-fold), breast cancer stem cell marker CD44 (2.1-fold).

Members of the PEA3 subfamily of Ets transcription factors (PEA3, ER81, and ERM) play important roles in the regulation of mammary epithelial differentiation and stem/progenitor cell fate (Kurpios et al., 2003), are involved in maintenance of the stem cell niche (Chen et al., 2005), and are overexpressed in human and mouse models of breast cancer (Shepherd et al., 2001; Trimble et al., 1993). The founding member of this subfamily, PEA3 (Etv4), was cloned in our lab (Xin et al., 1992), and is of particular interest in mammary gland development and oncogenesis (Kurpios, 2005). Furthermore, PEA3 cooperates with β -catenin in the transcription of multiple Wnt target genes (Crawford et al., 2001; El-Tanani et al., 2004; Howe et al., 2001), some of which were preferentially expressed in mammospheres such as osteopontin (OPN/Spp1), and Cox2/Ptgs2 (Table A3). Moreover, several other known β -catenin target genes that are also preferential to mammospheres contain uncharacterized PEA3 binding sites (Xin et al., 1992) upstream of their transcription start site (Ziegler et al., 2005), suggesting that PEA3 may additionally cooperate with β-catenin at these promoters. Altogether, the 38fold preferential expression of PEA3 mRNA in mammospheres suggested that, perhaps in cooperation with β -catenin, this gene may contribute significantly to the overall phenotype of mammospheres, a hypothesis consistent with its observed role in mouse mammary stem cell regulation in vivo (Kurpios, 2005).
To validate these observations we confirmed by qRT-PCR the differential expression of PEA3 and its subfamily members ER81 and ERM (Figure 6), demonstrating that all three transcripts are highly preferentially expressed in mammospheres compared PEA3 expression was 38.97 and 38.5-fold higher in to differentiated cells. mammospheres detected by microarray and RT-PCR, respectively. Moreover, when assessed by immunocytochemical analyses, PEA3 protein was detected in 75% of mammosphere cells and in 23% of differentiated mammosphere-derived cells (Figure 6). Our microarray analyses revealed that ER81 and ERM were expressed preferentially in mammospheres by 2.53 and 3.58-fold, respectively and were downregulated upon gRT-PCR analyses confirmed their differential expression differentiation; in mammospheres and showed that their expression was extinguished upon differentiation (Figure 6C). Together these analyses demonstrate the preferential expression of PEA3 subfamily members in mammosphere-derived cells, confirming previous observations that these transcription factors contribute to mammary epithelial stem/progenitor cell phenotype in vivo.

Transcriptional profile of mouse mammary tumour-initiating cells cultured in vitro

Mammary gland-specific expression of the rat Neu cDNA is achieved under the control of the mouse mammary tumour virus (MMTV) viral promoter; this germline expression of Neu induces, with median latency of 315 days, metastatic disease resembling human c-erbB2-overexpressing breast cancer (Guy *et al.*, 1992; Shepherd *et*

al., 2001). Based on our findings that mammospheres afford a means to investigate in vitro the molecular regulation of stem cell renewal, we attempted to culture cells in vitro from primary mouse mammary tumours induced by the MMTV-Her2/Neu transgene (Figure 7). In a process analogous to that used to derive mouse mammospheres, suspensions of primary Neu-induced tumour cells cultured in stem cell media give rise to mouse mammary tumourspheres after 7 days (Kurpios, 2005). Tumoursphere suspension cells are passaged subsequently every 4 days by mechanical dissociation, and can exist in culture for indefinite periods under this regime. Importantly, a high percentage of tumoursphere-resident cells (25-40%) seed the growth of secondary tumours upon orthotopic or subcutaneous engraftment in syngeneic recipient mice (Kurpios, 2005), demonstrating the utility of this system to propagate functional mammary tumourinitiating cells over multiple serial passages *in vitro*. Furthermore, these secondary tumours can be retransplanted *in vivo* for many successive generations highlighting the seemingly unlimited potential of tumoursphere-resident cells for proliferation and self-renewal (Personal communication: Kurpios and Hassell, 2007). Thus tumourspheres contain functional cancer stem cells and offer a renewable source of such cells for molecular studies.

With the knowledge that tumourspheres contain a high fraction of tumourinitiating cells (candidate cancer stem cells), we were eager to learn whether their transcriptional profile lends support to the hypothesis that cancer arises in stem cells and whether cancer stem cells maintain much of the molecular phenotype of normal tissue

stem cells. To this end, three biologically distinct tumoursphere preparations were used to assemble a representative gene expression profile of tumourspheres cultured in vitro, using conditions already reported for mammosphere transcriptional profiling. We found that tumourspheres expressed 9,592 of 22,690 total transcripts on the MOE430A array, judged by present calls in each of biological 3 samples. Tumourspheres preferentially expressed only 280 genes versus mammospheres (Table S3), where 181 of these transcripts were assigned an absent call in at least one mammosphere sample. A similar comparison revealed that tumourspheres preferentially expressed 607 genes compared to mammospheres induced to differentiate (Table S4); of these genes 370 were assigned an absent call in at least one sample from differentiated mammospheres. Further analyses revealed that tumourspheres more closely resemble the transcriptional profile of mammospheres than differentiated cells; 373 genes were preferentially expressed in both tumourspheres and mammospheres (Figure 8A), while only 48 transcripts were preferentially expressed in both tumourspheres and differentiated mammosphere cells (Figure 8B).

Interestingly, tumourspheres preferentially expressed genes known to function in mammary stem cell regulation or that have been previously used to enrich stem cells from other tissues or tumours. Included among these genes are CD49f/ α 6-integrin (Stingl *et al.*, 2006a), human neural/brain tumour stem cell marker CD133/prominin1 (Singh *et al.*, 2003; Singh *et al.*, 2004b), and the regulators of mammary stem cell fate Notch1 and its ligand Delta-like 1 (Dontu *et al.*, 2004). Moreover, similar to our findings with

mammospheres, the expression profile of tumourspheres was most similar to that of purified hair follicle stem cells than to any other stem cell population we analyzed, including neural, hematopoietic, and embryonic (data not shown). However, we discovered that tumourspheres preferentially express more genes in common with hair follicle stem cells than do mammospheres (Figure 8C). This may suggest that the stem cell transcriptional phenotype is further amplified in mouse tumourspheres, in accordance with previous observations from our lab that tumourspheres contain a higher fraction of functional stem cells than do mammospheres (Kurpios, 2005). Thus our gene expression analyses are consistent with the hypothesis that tumourspheres cultured *in vitro* contain a high fraction of cancer stem cells.

Recent studies identified CD44 and CD24 as important markers of prospective human breast cancer stem cells (Al-Hajj *et al.*, 2003). These authors showed that primary tumour cells with surface phenotype CD44⁺/CD24⁻ could be isolated from the bulk population and could exclusively seed the growth of a new tumour following xenograft transplants into NOD/SCID mice. Importantly, CD44 is expressed at higher levels in mouse tumourspheres compared with mammospheres (1.9 fold) or differentiated mammospheres (4.1 fold), and thus we speculate that the high fraction of tumourinitiating cells in mouse tumourspheres represents a rich population of true cancer stem cells.

To further evaluate the transcriptional profile of tumoursphere-resident cells, we compared tumoursphere-enriched genes to the expression profiles of normal and tumour

CD44⁺/CD24⁻ and CD24⁺/CD44⁻ cell populations reported elsewhere (Shipitsin et al., 2007). In human breast tumours $CD44^+/CD24^-$ cells are responsible for the transfer of disease to NOD/SCID mice (Al-Hajj et al., 2003), and are prospective cancer stem cells. Indeed, the authors reported that these cells express many known markers of stem cells and thus display an overall transcriptional profile consistent with a stem cell identity (Shipitsin et al., 2007). We discovered that 46 transcripts (7.4%) preferential to tumourspheres overlapped with normal CD44⁺/CD24⁻ breast cells (Figure 9A), while 28 transcripts (4.5%) overlapped with normal $CD24^+/CD44^-$ cells (Figure 9B). Thus tumourspheres share larger overlap with normal CD44⁺/CD24⁻ cells, a population enriched for stem cell markers. The same was true for comparisons of tumourspheres with tumour CD44⁺/CD24⁻ and CD24⁺/CD44⁻ cells. Tumourspheres expressed 86 transcripts (13.8%) in common with cancer CD44⁺/CD24⁻ cells (Figure 9C) and 61 transcripts (9.8%) in common with cancer CD24⁺/CD44⁻ cells (Figure 9D). Together, these comparisons show that tumourspheres preferentially express many genes from a signature defining prospective breast cancer stem cells, further supporting the notion that tumour-initiating cells within tumourspheres are cancer stem cells propagated *in vitro*.

DISCUSSION

Mammospheres are a versatile system to study stem cell process

We have demonstrated a significant overlap of mammosphere-enriched genes with those globally expressed by other stem cell populations (Figure 2) and were

intrigued to learn that mammospheres shared the most significant overlap with hair follicle stem cells, a population similarly marked by the expression of CD49f/integrin- α 6. It is therefore a possibility that mammary and hair follicle stem cells are functionally related and may share mechanisms that maintain their undifferentiated state. Indeed, both the mammary epithelia and hair follicle tissues are derived from ectoderm, and fetal mammary epithelium has rudimentary plasticity to differentiate into salivary tissue, another ectodermally-derived compartment (Kratochwil, 1969). Thus the mammary gland transplant assay may help to determine the plasticity of hair follicle stem cells, by assessing their potential to transdifferentiate upon exposure to the mammary stromal environment. Furthermore, the plasticity of mammospheres may be assessed by exposure of these cells to embryonic tissue compartments in experiments similar to those previously described with fetal epithelia (Kratochwil, 1969; Sakakura *et al.*, 1987).

Mammospheres as a model to explore the molecular control of mammary gland development

Consistent with our transcriptional profiling data which demonstrate that mammospheres preferentially express genes characteristic of stem/progenitor cell populations, results from our laboratory show that mammospheres contain *bone fide* stem cells capable of extensive self-renewal and differentiation along both the myoepithelial and luminal lineages upon transplant *in vivo* (Kurpios, 2005). We were therefore surprised to learn that upon differentiation *in vitro*, genes characteristic of

luminal epithelial cells were not preferentially expressed in differentiated mammospheres (Stingl *et al.*, 2006b). For example, whereas markers of the myoepithelial lineage such as α -smooth muscle actin were very abundant upon *in vitro* differentiation of mammospheres, luminal lineage markers such as CK8, CK18, E-cadherin, and MUC-1 were not preferentially expressed in these cells. Collectively, these data may suggest that whereas mammospheres are capable of complete lineage differentiation *in vivo*, the methods employed to induce their *in vitro* differentiation favoured myoepithelial morphogenesis at the expense of luminal cells. These observations further suggest that mouse mammospheres may be useful as a means to explore and identify factors directing mammary differentiation along specific lineages.

Conversely, transcriptional profiling of human differentiated mammospheres reveals the expression of numerous transcripts characteristic of the mammary luminal lineage (Dontu *et al.*, 2003a). Interestingly, these cell populations fail to express the myoepithelial lineage marker α -smooth muscle actin. These data clearly contrast the differentiation of mouse mammospheres from our laboratory and further suggest differences in the methods employed to induce differentiation of mouse and human mammospheres *in vitro*. We speculate that in these human studies the addition of prolactin, a lactogenic hormone shown previously to induce functional and terminal differentiation along the luminal and alveolar/secretory lineages (Horseman, 1999; Shamay *et al.*, 1989; Silberstein, 2001; Stelwagen *et al.*, 1999), induces a strong luminal phenotype in human mammospheres at the expense of myoepithelial lineage

differentiation. In this regard, mouse mammospheres may prove to be a highly useful tool to explore the molecular control of normal mammary gland differentiation. Thus, future studies should employ mouse mammospheres to analyze the role of prolactin and other growth factors during mouse mammary epithelial lineage differentiation.

Mammospheres as a model to study signal transduction pathways directing mammary gland development

CANONICAL WNT/ β -CATENIN SIGNALING IN MAMMOSPHERES

Compared to their differentiated descendants, mammospheres preferentially expressed transcripts suggestive of canonical Wnt activation, including both Wnt pathway members (Table 2) and target genes (Table 3). For example, we found that mammospheres differentially expressed Tcf4, a β-catenin-dependent transcription factor, Wnt2, a secreted activator of canonical signaling, and Pin1, a prolyl-isomerase that stabilizes β-catenin. β-catenin-knockout mouse embryos exhibit failed gastrulation because of a defective embryonic ectoderm (Haegel *et al.*, 1995; Huelsken *et al.*, 2000). Tcf4-knockout mice die at birth, and exhibit depletion of intestinal epithelial stem cells (Korinek *et al.*, 1998). Thus the Wnt/β-catenin machinery expressed preferentially in mammospheres are required for proper embryonic development of epithelial compartments (the embryonic lethality of these mutations precludes complete investigation of their effect on mammary development). Pin1-knockout mice show a proliferation defect during pregnancy resembling that of CyclinD1 knockout mice (Liou *et*

al., 2002), accompanied by substantially reduced levels and altered subcellular localization of β -catenin protein through a direct interaction (Ryo et al., 2001). In addition to promoting β-catenin-dependent CyclinD1 transcription, Pin1 also binds CyclinD1 and induces its nuclear localization in a positive-feedback loop. These data implicate Pin1 in promoting β-catenin-induced cell proliferation. Since Pin1 is a direct E2F-family target gene (Ryo et al., 2002), it was exciting to learn that E2F5, Pin1 and CyclinD1 are all preferential to mammospheres by twofold or greater, supporting our claim that canonical β-catenin-dependent transcription is active in mammospheres. Other targets of canonical β-catenin signaling are differentially expressed in mammospheres, including cell surface glycoprotein CD44 and one of its binding partners, osteopontin (OPN). The interaction of CD44 and osteopontin induces cell survival of normal and metastatic cells through a mechanism involving PI3K/Akt activation (Lin and Yang-Yen, 2001), and functions in both tissue repair (Liaw et al., 1998) and tumor cell survival (Crawford et al., 1998). Thus it is possible to envision a role for CD44 and osteopontin in the regulation of PI3K/Akt signaling in mammospheres downstream of Wnt, and that together these genes may contribute to the survival or maintenance of mammary epithelial stem cells in vitro. Supporting this idea is the observation that Pik3r1, a regulatory subunit of PI3-kinase with a potent negative effect on Akt posphorylation and PI3K activity (Ueki et al., 2000), is highly upregulated upon differentiation of mammospheres in vitro. Perhaps more importantly, osteopontin has been identified as a critical regulator of the hematopoietic stem cell niche (Calvi et al., 2003; Nilsson et al.,

2005) and negatively regulates the size of the population by suppressing stem cell proliferation (Stier *et al.*, 2005). These reports also show that osteopontin expression determines the size of the niche and the localization of bone marrow stem cells *in vivo* in a direct interaction with the surface of stem cells via β 1-integrin (Nilsson *et al.*, 2005). This molecular interaction warrants further investigation in mammospheres, as mammary stem cells can be purified from bulk primary mammary eptihelia with antibodies to β 1-integrin (Shackleton *et al.*, 2006). Furthermore, since CD44 marks human breast cancer stem cells (Al-Hajj *et al.*, 2003) and has roles in both cell adhesion (hyaluronan receptor) and PI3K/Akt regulation via its interaction with osteopontin, investigations of the loss-of-function phenotypes for these proteins in mammospheres, as well as the transcriptional profile of CD44⁺ mammosphere-resident cells, will likely prove informative.

Based on transcriptional profiling, we have proposed that canonical β-catenindependent transcription is active in mammosphere cells. To confirm this further future experiments should make use of reporter systems such as TOPFLASH or TOPeGFP (Kim et al., 2000; Moriyama et al., 2007) to investigate the status of β-catenin-dependent transcription in mammospheres and/or tumourspheres and their descendant cells. Furthermore, we reported that some of the Wnt/β-catenin target genes expressed preferentially in mammosphere-resident cells (Table A3) have PEA3 binding sites within their promoter regions (a non-exhaustive list). Considering the highly differential expression of PEA3, and to a lesser extent of ER81 and ERM, it seems likely that PEA3 subfamily members perform important functions in determining the transcriptional profile

of mammospheres, and may therefore direct aspects of mammary epithelial stem cell function as suggested previously (Kurpios, 2005). The combined employment of the mammosphere system, lentiviral vectors, and dominant-negative forms of PEA3 available in our lab may prove useful to address these questions in future experiments.

NON-CANONICAL WNTS DURING DIFFERENTIATION

Mammospheres induced to differentiate preferentially express genes requisite for non-canonical Wnt signaling such as Wnt5a and Frizzled8, suggesting that non-canonical signaling may be a feature of differentiated cells. In support of this hypothesis, rat Neural stem cells express canonical Wnt2 (reported here as preferential to mammospheres) while the same cells induced to differentiate express increasing amounts of noncanonical Wnt5a and decreasing amounts of β -catenin (Lange et al., 2006). These observations indicate a diminished role for β -catenin signaling during differentiation and a corresponding increase in non-canonical Wnt signaling. Likewise, Wnt5a protects differentiated osteoblasts from apoptosis in a *B*-catenin-independent but Akt-, PI3K-, and ERK-dependent fashion supporting a role for non-canonical signaling in the survival or identity of differentiated cells. Moreover, Wnt5a induces proliferation and survival of human vascular endothelial cells, a phenotype reversed by exogenous delivery of soluble Frizzled4 extracellular domain (Masckauchan et al., 2006). These data argue for contrasting functions of canonical and non-canonical Wnt signaling during differentiation. Perhaps more importantly, non-canonical Wnts override canonical signaling throughout

vertebrate biology; for example, the non-canonical Wnt5a can antagonize secondary axis formation induced by exogenous canonical Wnt1 (Torres *et al.*, 1996). However, this antagonistic effect of Wnt5a is a direct effect (extracellular), as Wnt5a was unable to antagonize axis formation upon overexpression of β -catenin or dominant negative GSK3 β (see Figure 5). Further suggesting a powerful role for Wnt5a in differentiation, antisensemediated loss of Wnt5a induces transformation of mammary epithelial cells and mimicry of the Wnt1-transformed phenotype (Olson and Gibo, 1998), while exogenous Wnt5a reverts transformation and induces differentiation of both renal cell carcinoma (Olson *et al.*, 1998) and uroepithelial tumour cells (Olson *et al.*, 1997). Together these findings corroborate an integrated role for non-canonical Wnt/ β -catenin signaling in the induction of mammary epithelial differentiation *in vitro*.

We propose that non-canonical signaling may be a decisive factor in mammary epithelial stem cell differentiation *in vitro*; to address this question, the effect of exogenous Wnt5a or other related non-canonical Wnt proteins should be established in cultured mammospheres. While sphere formation may not be an optimal assay *per se* for mammary stem cells *in vitro*, differentiating mammosphere-derived cells adhere to the culture vessel and can form morphologically-discernable colonies (Kurpios, 2005), affording a rudimentary assessment of morphological differentiation. However, the functional differentiation of mammary epithelial cells *in vitro* is perhaps best exemplified by the formation of polarized epithelia and the secretion of milk protein after stimulation with lactogenic hormones (Horseman, 1999). Others have cultured mammary epithelial cells in collagen (Montesano and Soulie, 2002) or basement membrane-type gels (Dontu et al., 2003a) and have assessed fundamental luminal morphogenesis, polarization, and casein expression following the addition of agents to induce differentiation. To augment monolayer clonogenic assays, it may be possible to employ mouse mammospheres under similar conditions, assaying the potential of exogenous Wnts or soluble frizzled proteins to induce the functional differentiation of mammospheres in serum-free 3D culture along one or both lineages. Also, as suggested by the apparent activation of canonical Wnt signaling in mammospheres, it may be possible to revert the phenotype induced by exogenous non-canonical Wnt5a, with canonical Wnt/ β -catenin agonists such as β -catenin or dominant-negative GSK3 β .

NOTCH SIGNALING IN MAMMARY EPITHELIAL CELL IDENTITY

While we have focused here on Wnt/ β -catenin signaling, the interpretation of mammosphere transcriptional profiles should be extended to other developmental transduction pathways in future experiments. For example, the preferential expression of Notch and its Delta-like ligand in mammospheres, and even higher expression in tumourspheres, argues that these proteins may play a role in the self-renewal of normal and transformed mammary stem/progenitor cells *in vitro*. Notch, β 1-integrin, and EGFR physically interact in neurospheres (Campos *et al.*, 2006), potentiating EGFR activity and stimulating growth, while the interaction and coregulation of EGFR and β 1-integrin has been reported in 3D culture of mammary epithelial cells (Wang *et al.*, 1998). Our data

prompt questions about these interactions in mammospheres, with emphasis on the recent discovery (Shackleton et al., 2006) that *β*1-integrin highly enriches for mammary epithelial stem cells, a Notch-overexpressing and EGF-responsive cell population in vitro. Since the preferential expression of classical Notch target genes such as hairy and enhancer-of-split (Hes1) is not observed in mammospheres compared to cells differentiated in vitro, investigation of Notch signaling in mammospheres is all the more intriguing. Indeed, preliminary experiments are already underway in our laboratory to learn the effects of Notch disruption in these cells (Barcelon, 2006). Moreover, Notch highly preferentially expressed in tumourspheres, confirming components are observations that deregulation of Notch signaling supports the oncogenic transformation of mammary epithelia (Callahan and Egan, 2004; Hu et al., 2006). Thus similar experiments with tumourspheres are in progress to learn if Notch signaling inhibitors can attenuate cancer stem cell self-renewal *in vitro* and *in vivo*. While our previous approach involved the disruption of Notch signaling in tumourspheres and mammospheres through small molecule γ -secretase inhibitors, developmental signaling pathways like Notch and Wnt depend on cell-cell and cell-matrix contact and can also therefore be modulated easily by supplementing culture media with purified ligands or peptides. This latter approach may facilitate the discovery of more specific and direct roles for Notch and other signaling pathways in the regulation of stem cell maintenance or differentiation. Though speculative, this scenario provides framework а to use the mammosphere/tumoursphere culture system with functional genomics and dissect in vitro

the molecular basis of mammary epithelial differentiation and its deregulation during carcinogenesis.

CROSSTALK AMONG SIGNALING PATHWAYS REGULATES MAMMARY DEVELOPMENT AND

While Notch and β -catenin signaling are attractive candidates for the regulation of mammary stem cell renewal, crosstalk of these with other cellular signaling pathways play significantly in mammary gland development. Mammospheres are no exception: preferential expression in these cells of molecular equipment and target genes from signaling pathways like TGF β , BMP, PI3K/Akt, and Vitamin A (retinoic acid) confirm extensive findings that these molecules regulate mammary epithelial proliferation, development, survival, and differentiation (Daniel *et al.*, 2001; Hens *et al.*, 2007; Hutchinson *et al.*, 2001; Petersen *et al.*, 1998). Hence we believe mammary gland development.

The runt-related transcription factor Runx2 directs crosstalk between pathways such as BMP, PI3K, and TGF β . For example, TGF β -1 and BMP-2 (both highly preferential to mammospheres) cooperate to induce Runx2 expression and that of its target genes (Lee *et al.*, 2000). Runx2 is also downstream of Wnt signaling and is preferentially expressed in mammospheres by six fold, suggesting a substantial role for its target genes in defining the mammosphere phenotype. Runx2 expression in embryonic development

is highly restricted to the early mammary gland, primordial bone, and the genital tubercle (Otto et al., 1997), supporting the theory that the observed preferential expression of Runx2 in mammospheres reflects events that are critical to mammary gland development. Moreover, Runx2-knockout mice die post-natally and exhibit failed bone formation (Komori et al., 1997; Otto et al., 1997); intriguingly, this is due to the failed maturation of osteoblasts, which form bones and the hematopoietic stem cell niche. In mammary epithelial cells, Runx2 directly activates the transcription of osteopontin (Inman and Shore, 2003), the osteoblastic and mammosphere-enriched gene that defines the bone marrow stem cell niche and may play a similar role in the mammary gland. This notion is supported by several observations: the highly restricted embryonic expression of Runx2 suggesting indispensable function in mammary development; the interaction of its transcriptional target, osteopontin, with stem cell markers such as CD44 and β 1-integrin (discussed previously); and the severe hematopoietic impairment of osteoblast-deficient transgenic mice (Visnjic et al., 2004). Thus in mammospheres, Runx2 may ultimately induce the mechanical and chemical coupling of stem cells to more differentiated progeny, preserving their undifferentiated state and forming a niche akin to that formed by osteoblasts to support hematopoietic stem cells. Supporting this concept are our observations that mammospheres contain a high fraction of myoepithelial progenitors (Kurpios, 2005), a phenomenon that is consistent with the attachment of stem cells to the myoepithelial compartment in vivo (Asselin-Labat et al., 2006). In this scenario, perhaps production of daughter progenitor cells from a stem cell

continues until a threshold is reached, when more committed progeny feed back on the stem cell to inhibit its proliferation; if true, factors such as Runx2, osteopontin, CD44 and β 1-integrin may participate in this mechanism. Other genes downstream of Runx2 (Vaes *et al.*, 2006) are also differentially regulated in mammospheres or mammospheres induced to differentiate including matrix metalloproteinase 9, mast cell proteases 6 and 7, delta-like 1 (notch ligand), c-fos-induced growth factor, and kit ligand. Since osteopontin can negatively regulate stem cell proliferation, blocking antibodies or shRNAs to osteopontin may induce mammosphere and tumoursphere-resident stem cells to proliferate, a relatively straightforward method to investigate the function of osteopontin in mammary epithelial stem cell status.

Further evidence supports a role for Runx2 target gene osteopontin, perhaps via niche initiation, as a facilitator of lymph node metastases (Allan *et al.*, 2006); such activities are attributed to transformed stem cells (Li *et al.*, 2007b) by many proponents of the cancer stem cell hypothesis. Thus the exploration of the Runx2-deficent and related phenotypes in mammospheres and tumourspheres may reveal a larger signaling network that functions in stem cell renewal, interactions with a niche, adhesion, and metastasis.

Finally, we have identified one other interesting expression pattern within mammospheres related to retinoic acid signaling. Though retinoic acid is traditionally associated with differentiation, we were intrigued to learn that compared to differentiated cells, mammospheres express higher levels of retinoic acid receptor beta, retinol binding protein (produces retinoic acid), cellular retinoic acid binding protein (a

competitive inhibitor of signaling) and three retinoic acid-induced transcripts Raet1c, Stra13, and Rai14; this signature is similarly amplified in tumourspheres by comparison to differentiated cells. However, in mammary epithelial cells, attenuated retinoic acid signaling induces proliferation and abrogates response of these cells to interactions with the extracellular matrix (Seewaldt *et al.*, 1997). Indeed, these are two facets common to stem cell maintenance and terminal differentiation as both cell types are non-proliferative and have phenotypes determined by cell-matrix and cell-cell contacts. Thus future analyses should investigate the distribution of various components of retinoic acid signaling in mammospheres, differentiated cells, and tumourspheres to provide more insight into this seemingly paradoxical mammosphere-restricted activity of retinoic acid signaling.

A sphere-based culture model to investigate cancer stem cell biology in vitro

Independent reports of human tumour comparments have prompted significant interest in the possibility that normal stem cells and their tumourigenic colleagues, cancer stem cells, share a pedigree and have a multitude of properties in common (Tan *et al.*, 2006; Wang and Dick, 2005). Since the first identification of prospective leukemic stem cells (Lapidot *et al.*, 1994), tumour-initiating cells have been identified for an array of human cancers based on differences in surface phenotype among the bulk tumour cells. In these studies, presumptive markers of various adult stem cells are used to purify rare cellular subfractions which are subsequently shown to be highly enriched for tumourinitiating cells when transferred as xenografts into NOD-SCID mice (Al-Hajj *et al.*, 2003; Collins *et al.*, 2005; Kim *et al.*, 2005; Li *et al.*, 2007a; Prince *et al.*, 2007; Singh *et al.*, 2003). These subfractions are comprised of cells that share characteristics with stem cells and exclusively contain the cells capable of regenerating a tumour in a new animal, suggesting that this enriched population of tumour-initiating cells is composed of cancer stem cells, at least in part.

Thus the cancer stem cell hypothesis is a convenient model to explain global observations about tumour cell heterogeneity and functional evidence for tumourinitiating cells. Furthermore, it is well established that poorly differentiated tumours of many human tissues are correlated with more aggressive or invasive behaviour and poor clinical outcome; indeed tumour grade is established partly from status of differentiation. The existence of a cancer stem cell is also an attractive scenario to account for these clinical data. Poorly differentiated tumours may contain a higher fraction of transformed cancer stem cells, which like their normal stem cell ancestors bear unlimited potential to proliferate and differentiate. However, unlike their normal counterparts, cancer stem cells within poorly differentiated tumours may suffer deregulated control of symmetric vs. asymmetric division, accounting for their increased incidence within the bulk tumour population. These observations argue that cancer stem cells are functionally discernable by their surface phenotypes and therefore they bear important ramifications for the design of durable therapeutics; perhaps this is why a vast majority of poorly-differentiated tumours relapse following conventional therapies.

Mouse Her2/Neu-induced tumourspheres express CD44 and CD24 as judged by microarray analyses and immunocytochemistry (Personal communication: Kurpios and Hassell, 2007), while human breast cancer stem cells likely have a CD44⁺/CD24⁻ phenotype (Al-Hajj et al., 2003). Our analyses with tumourspheres agree with previous observations that prospective breast cancer stem cells (CD44⁺/CD24⁻ breast tumour cells) express many classical markers of stem cells by comparison to the CD24⁺/CD44⁻ population, which bear strong transcriptional resemblance to luminal epithelial cells (Shipitsin et al., 2007). These data seem to support the adult stem cell as the place of origin for tumourigenesis, though direct biological evidence for the transformation of normal stem cells remains elusive. Interestingly, the authors also demonstrated that CD24 was highly upregulated in distant metastases compared to primary tumours (Shipitsin et al., 2007). This apparent shift in phenotype is problematic, since normal mammary epithelial stem cells appear to have a CD24^{low/-} phenotype (Shackleton et al., 2006; Stingl et al., 2006a); if normal stem cells are more similar to primary human breast tumour cells than to distant metastases, the question arises whether cancer stem cells are transformed mammary stem cells and whether these cells are in fact responsible for metastatic initiation (Li et al., 2007b). However, the authors also noted that in some primary tumours, CD24⁺/CD44⁻ cells harboured additional genetic rearrangement compared to CD44⁺/CD24⁻ cells. These data argue for a clonal evolution mechanism among cells lower in the hierarchy than breast cancer stem cells, an event that might be correlated with an increase in CD24 expression and higher metastatic capacity. Future experiments should address the relative potential of CD44⁺/CD24⁺ and CD24⁺/CD44⁺ cells in tumourspheres to engraft *in vivo*. Though we have already established a high, unprecedented fraction (25-40%) of functional tumour-initiating cells within mouse tumourspheres (Kurpios, 2005), sorted populations of CD44⁺/CD24⁺ or CD24⁺/CD44⁺ cells may be further enriched for tumour-initiating cells assessed by allograft transplant studies, a scenario that would confirm data pertaining to human cell populations of similar phenotype (Al-Hajj *et al.*, 2003; Shipitsin *et al.*, 2007). Also, considering that Her2/Neu-induced mouse tumours give rise to metastases with high frequency (Guy *et al.*, 1992), any difference in metastatic potential between CD44⁺/CD24⁺ and CD24⁺/CD44⁺ cells should be assessed using *in vitro* measures of invasive potential and *im vitro* propensity to metastasize preferably to the lungs as described previously (Guy *et al.*, 1992). These experiments will help to challenge the hypothesis that tumour-initiating cells in tumourspheres are cancer stem cells, and whether they bear clinical relevance to metastatic progression *in vitro*.

M.Sc. Thesis - D.W.Gludish

McMaster - Biochemistry and Biomedical Sciences

CHAPTER 2

A FUNCTIONAL GENOMICS APPROACH TO IDENTIFY NOVEL THERAPEUTIC TARGETS OF MAMMARY TUMOUR-INITIATING CELLS

INTRODUCTION

In pursuit of novel breast cancer therapies: functional genomics applied to cancer stem cells

Global gene expression profiling - the process of enumerating the set of genes whose transcription is active in a given cell population – has become a powerful biological tool and has spawned novel fields of study such as bioinformatics and functional genomics. Microarray expression/transcriptional profiling (Schena et al., 1995) has been used to identify the molecular character of countless cell types and to study, on a whole-genome basis, the effect of perturbagens on the transcription of known and novel target genes. Applied to breast cancer in humans, transcriptional profiling has been employed to generate tumour gene signatures that correlate with parameters of disease such as disease-free survival, metastases, and failure of therapy (Dressman et al., 2006; Glinsky et al., 2005; Nuyten et al., 2006; Sotiriou et al., 2003; Wang et al., 2005; West et al., 2001). These gene signatures may be powerful predictors of disease outcome and therefore have important prognostic value. Similar gene signatures from mouse models of human malignancy can be used to find candidate biomarkers of human disease, and to test the potential of these markers as therapeutic targets in functional studies (functional genomics). Here we report that mouse Her2/Neu-induced tumourspheres may provide an *in vitro* means to find candidate genes involved in tumour initiation or progression in vivo.

RNAi – a global tool to evaluate gene knockdown

RNA interference (RNAi) has recently emerged as a powerful and versatile tool to approximate loss-of-function phenotypes in vertebrates. The RNAi machinery derives from an intrinsic cellular response to infection with double-stranded RNA viruses (Hu *et al.*, 2002), and offers a simple method to inhibit the expression of any gene at the level of its messenger RNA transcript. Our functional genomics approach involves the identification of candidate genes in tumourspheres followed by the knockdown of these genes in RNAi studies; the delivery of short hairpin RNAs (shRNAs) to induce RNAi silencing can be mediated by retroviral infection or nucleic acid transfection. Our overall objective is to screen for genes with roles in tumour cell viability, metastatic potential, or other measurable parameter of tumour progression *in vitro*.

To this end, we have defined a molecular signature for cancer stem cells cultured *in vitro* using transcriptional profiling, with the intention to systematically assess the requirement of these genes in the tumour phenotype. We report a proof-of-principle experiment designed to demonstrate the utility of tumourspheres in such a system and have contributed validated shRNAs as the first of two steps in this approach.

RESULTS

A molecular signature for mouse breast cancer stem cells

To establish a cohort of candidate genes as biomarkers or therapeutic targets of mouse mammary cancer stem cells, we first enumerated genes preferential to tumourspheres compared to mammospheres induced to differentiate. These genes highlight observed biological differences between the cell populations, and include markers of proliferation, stem/progenitor cells, and Her2/Neu-induced mammary tumours in general. This list of genes was then subjected to hierarchical clustering (Figure 10), revealing genes whose expression is similar in both mammospheres and differentiated cells, but different in tumourspheres. Our intention was to eliminate more obvious genes associated with proliferation or the mammary epithelial phenotype, independent of the status of normal differentiation. The resulting set of genes was finally overlapped with those preferentially expressed in primary Her2/Neu-induced mouse mammary tumours analyzed in our lab, helping to ensure their relevance to in vivo tumour progression (Figure 10A). A final list of these tumourness genes is shown in Table S5, and their expression levels across each of the samples analyzed is profiled in Figure 10C. Among the genes on this list are lipocalin2, aldolase 3C, tight junction claudins 3, 4, and 7, kappa-casein, Iroquois-related homeobox-3, and thrombospondin-1. Furthermore, cytokeratin-18 and -8 are tumourness genes, supporting observations throughout the literature that Her2/Neu-induced breast tumours are mostly luminal in origin (Herschkowitz et al., 2007; Hoadley et al., 2007) and express proteins characteristic of luminal epithelial cells (Jones et al., 2004).

Expression of tumourness genes in mouse mammary tumours

An ideal candidate *tumourness* gene would be expressed in tumour cells independent of external factors, exemplifying a role for such a gene in the progression of tumour growth, survival, or subsequent metastasis. To confirm that the transcriptional profile of selected *tumourness* genes was echoed by protein expression *in vitro* and from primary tumours *in vivo*, the expression of lipocalin 2, and tight junction proteins claudin-3 and claudin-7 was assessed by antibody staining (Figure 11) in cultured tumoursphere line #3736, and in paraffin sections of primary tumour #3691 and secondary engrafted tumour #3852. Our preliminary data reveal that the expression and subcellular localization of these three genes remains unchanged across three sample types, supporting the use of our tumoursphere model to define a molecular signature of tumour-specific genes from which candidates can be chosen for functional studies.

Derivation of Neu-overexpressing cell line HTN

Our functional genomics approach consists of transcriptional profiling to identify genes which may be required for the viability of tumour-initiating cells. We intend to apply these genes systematically in short-hairpin (shRNA)-mediated screens to learn of their potential role in tumoursphere self-renewal or propagation *in vitro*. Based on

evidence that tumour cell viability is dependent on Neu protein expression in conditional mouse models (Moody *et al.*, 2002), human disease (Baselga *et al.*, 1996; Baselga *et al.*, 1999; Cobleigh *et al.*, 1999; Pegram *et al.*, 1998; Slamon *et al.*, 2001; Vogel *et al.*, 2002), and in human erbB2-positive breast cancer cell lines (Choudhury *et al.*, 2004; Faltus *et al.*, 2004), we devised a proof-of-principle experiment to employ shRNAs in the knockdown of rat Neu in tumoursphere cells. While the most basic formulation of this experiment assumes that all cells within tumourspheres express Neu and remain dependent on its expression for viability, the observation that human erbB2-positive and Neu-induced mouse mammary tumours can relapse in the absence of Neu signaling (Hortobagyi, 2001; Moody *et al.*, 2002) prompted us to evaluate the expression of the transgene in tumourspheres. As demonstrated in Figure 12, the high ubiquitous expression (Figure 12A) and activation of rat Neu protein (phosphorylated Neu, Figure 12B) in tumoursphere line 3736 suggests the plausibility of our proof-of-principle experiment to compromise Neu expression in these cells.

De novo design of short hairpin sequences requires validation *in vitro*, and to this end we derived a stable adherent cell line with constitutive expression of the same rat Neu cDNA expressed in MMTV-Neu tumours and tumourspheres. Human fibrosarcoma HT1080 cells (Rasheed *et al.*, 1974) were chosen as a parental cell line for their susceptibility to lentiviral infection (Ramezani *et al.*, 2000). HT1080 cells were infected with unconcentrated supernatant containing lenti-Neu, a recombinant self-inactivating lentivirus expressing the rat Neu cDNA. Transduced cells (designated HTN) were

selected in blasticidin-containing media and expanded as a population to verify the expression of Neu by protein analyses (Figure 13). Lysates from wild-type HT1080 and HTN cells, and from 293FT cells transiently transfected with Neu expression plasmid, were compared by Western immunoblot with antibodies to erbB2/Neu (Ab-3, clone 3B5) and loading control β -actin. The low endogenous expression of Neu protein in HT1080 cells (far right lane) suggested this parental cell line was suitable for knockdown studies.

To calculate changes in Neu protein levels from HTN cells by quantitative western blot, we first investigated antibodies Ab-3 (Neu, Oncogene Science) and β -actin loading control (Abcam) in a titration experiment using dilution series of Neu-containing cellular lysate (Figure 14). ImageQuant software calculated the volume of triplicate bands, and their average was plotted as a function of micrograms of loaded protein. Linear regression analyses determined that over a 10-fold range of concentrations, the Neu antibody Ab-3 could reliably detect changes in Neu expression (R-squared value of 0.952) while the β -actin antibody performed with an R-squared value of 0.939 (Figure 14B). These data suggested the suitability of quantitative immunoblot for the quantification of Neu knockdown in adherent HTN cells.

Preparation of recombinant shRNA lentiviruses

The pPRIME lentiviral vector system developed for use in mammalian shRNA screens (Stegmeier et al., 2005) was chosen here for its diversity of optional features including tetracycline-inducible shRNA expression, fluorescent marker GFP, cell surface

marker NGFR, and neomycin selection. These vectors also feature the microRNA context miR30 for the increased processing of shRNAs by cellular RNAi machinery (Paddison et al., 2004). The pPRIME-CMV-GFP vector expresses the GFP-miR30-shRNA fusion message (Stegmeier et al., 2005) from a single PolII promoter (CMV) and was employed to generate lenti-shRNA vectors targeting rat Neu. A total of 12 shRNA sequences (including one scrambled non-silencing control sequence, NSC) were cloned into the pPRIME-CMV-GFP vector; three of these shRNA sequences specific to the rat transgene were chosen for analyses in HTN cells based on pilot shRNA/Neu cotransfection experiments. Constructs R1, R2, R3, and NSC were then used to generate lentiviruses by cotransfection with packaging plasmids in 293FT cells, as described in Materials and Methods.

The titer of concentrated lentiviruses was calculated as described (Rubinson *et al.*, 2003), by infecting wild-type HTN cells with serial dilutions of lentivirus and assaying the fraction of eGFP-positive cells 48 hours post-infection by flow cytometry on the Agilent Bioanalyzer. The titer is reported in Figure 15 as IU/ml or infective units per microliter. In these experiments, the vector pLL3.7b (LentiLox) (Rubinson *et al.*, 2003) was used as a positive control. The mean GFP fluorescence from infected cells in each population was calculated and compared to that of cells infected with LentiLox virus. Confirming our overall observation from fluorescence microscopy, LentiLox infection (Figure 15E) resulted in approximately twofold higher average expression of eGFP per cell when compared with pPRIME vectors in Panels A-D (note the log scale of both axes), suggesting

differences in the efficiency of eGFP transcription or mRNA stability in pPRIME vectors compared to the LentiLox control. Furthermore, when prepared in parallel with pPRIME vectors, the titer of LentiLox virus was more than twofold higher (Figure 15, bottom panel) than the highest titer obtained with a pPRIME vector (non-silencing control, NSC).

Silencing of Neu protein expression in HTN cells by lenti-shRNA infection

HTN cell populations were infected with shRNA lentivirus vectors targeting rat Neu (R1, R2, R3), or a non-silencing control virus (NSC). Expression of GFP was visible in these cells by 24 hours post-infection and robust signal was present an additional 24 hours later. Cell populations infected with various lenti-shRNAs, and cells not infected with any lenti-shRNA (mock-infected) were expanded in culture for 8 days post-infection, with passage at sub-confluence to a larger culture vessel. As the pPRIME-CMV-GFP vector carries no mammalian selectable marker, expression of eGFP was verified qualitatively by fluorescence microscopy just prior to harvest of cell lysates for western blotting to Neu, β-actin and eGFP.

Figures 16 and 17 show the results of two independent biological experiments carried out in technical duplicate for infection of HTN cells with lentiviruses encoding anti-Neu shRNA R1 or non-silencing control (NSC). To demonstrate that increasing doses of anti-Neu shRNA could reduce Neu protein expression, cells were incubated with two quantities of each lenti-shRNA vector (R1 and NSC). Relative Neu protein levels (normalized to β-actin expression from the same sample) were reduced by 85.5% and

84.9% in the first and second experiment, respectively (Figure 16B, 17B). The relative expression of Neu in mock-infected cells was set at 100% in these experiments. Since the pPRIME-CMV-GFP shRNA delivery vector expresses eGFP, western analyses to eGFP protein reveal that increasing doses of lenti-shRNA treatments are responsible for decreases in Neu protein levels (Figure 16A, 17A, bottom immunoblot panel).

Similarly, Figures 18 and 19 (two experiments with lenti-shRNA R2) and Figures 20 and 21 (lenti-shRNA R3) show that the highest dose of lenti-shRNA induced decreases in Neu expression of 63.5% and 63.2% (R2), and 67.5% and 62.3% (R3), respectively compared to expression in HTN cells infected with a corresponding 10 μ l dose of non-silencing control virus.

To examine the distribution of eGFP and the corresponding levels of Neu protein in cells infected with lenti-shRNAs, replicate cultures from the above experiments were seeded for analyses by Neu immunocytochemistry 8 days post-infection. Figure 22 shows cells infected with the highest dose (10 μ l) of R1, R2, R3, and non-silencing control (NSC) lentivirus vectors. The fraction of cells expressing high or low quantities of Neu protein was counted from multiple fields chosen at random and reported Figure 22R. HTN cells infected with R1, R2, R3, and NSC vectors comprised 6.5%, 10.5%, 11.0%, and 36.7% of cells with high Neu expression, while mock-infected cells contained 38.2% (Figure 22). Similarly, R1, R2, R3, and NSC-infected cells comprised 20.6%, 52.1%, 59.7%, and 60.84% of cells with low Neu expression, while mock infected cells contained 60.5%. We did not detect expression of rat Neu in parental HT1080 cells by

immunocytochemistry (Figure 22PQ). These data suggested that lenti-shRNA infections targeting Neu mRNA reduced both the number of Neu-expressing cells in the HTN population and the level of Neu expression per cell, as scored by immunocytochemistry.

Taken together, our data revealed a set of validated RNAi tools for functional studies in Her2/Neu-induced tumourspheres. We anticipate these experiments will form the baseline in lenti-shRNA screens performed with tumourspheres in the near future.

DISCUSSION

A gene signature for candidate cancer stem cells: tumourness genes

Using genes preferential to tumourspheres compared to differentiated mammospheres as a starting point, we have attempted to model the tumour phenotype (Figure 10A). Our data revealed a set of genes whose expression was not appreciably regulated during the differentiation of mammospheres *in vitro*, contrasting with strong regulation in tumourspheres. To eliminate potential *in vitro* artifacts, we have filtered this list of genes to include only transcripts which also showed preferential expression in primary tumours compared with the normal mammary gland. The result is a gene signature, profiled in Figure 10C and listed in Table S5, with high expression in tumour compartments compared to differentiated cells, mature tissue, or proliferating progenitor cells (mammospheres). Among these genes are tight junction proteins of the claudin family and the iron transporter lipocalin 2, whose expression we have verified in primary tumours and tumourspheres by immunohistochemistry (Figure 11). These genes have

characterized roles in Her2/Neu-mediated oncogenesis (Kubben et al., 2007; Morin, 2005; Morohashi et al., 2007), increasing our confidence that tumourness genes are a biologically relevant gene signature. We propose to investigate roles for these genes as biomarkers or therapeutic targets in tumourspheres, a flexible and powerful *in vitro* system.

Use of tumourspheres to screen for novel therapeutic targets

Multiple investigators have reported that maintained Neu expression is required for cell viability in Her2/Neu-overexpressing tumours, a cornerstone of the clinical success enjoyed by Herceptin, an antibody treatment for breast cancer targeting the ectodomain of the Her2/Neu receptor tyrosine kinase. The antibody binds Her2/Neu on the cell surface inducing its internalization and thus ablating its participation in MAPkinase signal transduction. Similar phenomena are reported in human breast cancer cell lines, where siRNA-mediated knockdown of Her2/Neu causes apoptosis (Choudhury *et al.*, 2004; Faltus *et al.*, 2004), and in mouse models of conditional neu activation, where deinduction of Neu expression results in tumour regression (Moody *et al.*, 2002). Our proof-of-principle experiment is designed to evaluate the potential use of tumourspheres in larger screens, and is based on the high expression and activation of Neu protein in tumourspheres (Figure 12). To successfully compromise Neu expression in tumourspheres *in vitro* and assess the resulting phenotype, we proceeded to design and validate shRNAs targeting rat Neu in an independent cell line, HT1080. Our experience with HT1080 cells indicated their high performance in lentiviral infections, making them suitable to test our lenti-shRNA vectors prior to use in tumourspheres. We used a lentivirus encoding rat Neu to transduce HT1080 cells, selected the cells using blasticidin and confirmed the expression of Neu thereafter by immunoblotting and immunocytochemistry (Figure 13); we designated the cells HTN. Western analyses with HTN lysates confirmed that antibodies to Neu and β -actin could be used to measure relative quantities of Neu expression following lenti-shRNA treatment (Figure 13).

We next designed a set of short hairpin sequences from the rat Neu coding sequence using the Cold Spring Harbor miR30 program and cloned these oligonucleotides into pPRIME-CMV-GFP. Our experiments to titer these viruses indicated twofold relative lower levels of GFP expression in pPRIME-infected cells compared with a control lentivirus pLL3.7b, and a further twofold lower titer under the best circumstances (Figure 15). Reasons for the observed lower titer in pPRIME vectors remain unknown; however, comparing the plasmid maps of these two vectors reveals the presence of a U6 promoter directly upstream of the CMV-GFP cassette in pLL3.7b that is not present in the pPRIME vectors. While the observed difference in GFP expression could be due to a number of factors, it seems likely that the U6 promoter contributes to increased transcription efficiency. More rigorous investigation may help clarify these observations.

Testing the efficacy of three shRNA lentiviruses compared to a non-silencing control virus containing a scrambled shRNA, we investigated Neu protein levels following infection of HTN cells with these viruses. We were able to demonstrate that increasing doses of shRNAs R1, R2, and R3 led to decreases in protein expression, as quantified in Figures 16-21, while corresponding increases in non-silencing control did not; construct R1 resulted in the highest degree of knockdown (~85%) compared to non-silencing control. GFP expression was monitored in these experiments, confirming that non-silencing control virus exhibits higher titer than the three shRNA constructs. Interestingly, single copies of shRNA seemed unable to overcome Neu expression in HTN cells. Experiments with cloned cell populations containing either single or multiple copies of integrated Neu are required to confirm these kinetics. However, it remains possible that single copies of shRNAs described here will cause knockdown in Her2/Neu-induced tumourspheres sufficient to measure a loss-of-function phenotype *in vitro*.

Subsequent experiments with short hairpins R1 and NSC in tumourspheres should assess sphere formation and apoptosis *in vitro*, and tumourigenic capacity *in vivo* following orthotopic or subcutaneous engraftment. Combined with the use of the tumourness gene signature presented here, the successful completion of these experiments will establish tumourspheres as a useful model for the *in vitro* screening of candidate therapeutic targets using functional genomics.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

M.Sc. Thesis - D.W.Gludish

Computational analyses

RNA was previously isolated from mammospheres, differentiated mammospheres, tumourspheres, and primary mouse mammary and tumour tissue (Personal communication: Kurpios and Hassell, 2006; Personal communication: Kurpios and Hassell, 2007). Target preparation and microarray hybridization was performed at the Ottawa Genome Centre according to Affymetrix instructions. Raw data from Affymetrix analyses were imported into GeneSpring using default normalization parameters. Student's t-tests and fold change analyses were used to identify genes whose expression differed on a statistically significant basis (95% confidence) by a factor of two. Consistent present calls were required in the numerator. Raw DAT files pertaining to human mammospheres (Dontu et al., 2003a) were reanalyzed according to the above protocol. The NetAffx Analysis Center (Affymetrix) was used to identify probe sets in the MOE430 genome, which correspond to probe sets from the lists of stemness genes previously published (Ivanova et al., 2002; Ramalho-Santos et al., 2002). Batch guery results were imported into GeneSpring for comparative analyses using the gene list editor. GeneSpring ontologies and the AmiGO browser (Gene Ontology Consortium) were used to identify probe sets associated with various GO biological processes with a maximum overlap p-value of 0.01. Where external analyses of published gene lists were performed, such genes were entered into GeneSpring using the gene list editor for direct comparisons.
Generation of clonable shRNA sequences

The rat Neu mRNA sequence (accession number NM 017003) was uploaded into the Cold Spring Harbor Labs RNAi portal (Paddison et al., 2004; Stegmeier et al., 2005) to generate short hairpin oligonucleotide sequences targeting Rat Her2/Neu mRNA. Desalted sense strand nucleotides with no 5' or 3' modifications were ordered from Invitrogen. Oligonucleotides were reconstituted with ddH₂O to 50µM and stored at -20°C. To append restriction endonuclease recognition sites and miR30 microRNA flanking sequences to both ends of the hairpin oligonucleotides, a universal PCR oligonucleotide primer set was ordered from Invitrogen comprising a forward primer (pSM2CF) with 5'-GATGGCTG-CTCGAG-AAGGTATATsequence TGCTGTTGACAGTGAGCG-3' and a reverse primer (pSM2R) with sequence 5'-GTCTAGAG-GAATTC-CGAGGCAGTAGGCA-3'. PCR was carried out in a 100μ L reaction with the program and reagent components as described previously (Paddison et al., 2004; Stegmeier et al., 2005). Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) and betaine (both Sigma), are included in the PCR mastermix at a final concentration of 5% each to discourage the formation of DNA secondary structure during template amplification. Cleanup of shRNA performed by adding an equal volume $(100 \mu L)$ of template PCR was Phenol:Chloroform:Isoamyl Alcohol (Invitrogen), vortexing briefly but thoroughly, and spinning at 14,000 RPM for 5 minutes at 4°C in a microcentrifuge. The top phase was transferred to a new tube containing 100μ L chloroform (ACP), mixed briefly by vortexing and centrifuged at 14,000 RPM for 5 minutes at 4°C. The top phase was again

72

transferred to a new tube with 1 μ L molecular biology grade glycogen and 1:10 volume of 3.0M NaAc, pH 5.2 (sodium acetate). To precipitate the DNA, three volumes of 100% ethanol were added to each preparation and precipitates were pelleted at 14,000 RPM for 15 minutes at 4°C. Pellets were washed in 300 μ L of 70% ethanol, re-pelleted at top speed for 5 minutes at 4°C, and resuspended in 41.5 μ L ddH₂O for restriction digest. PCR products and lentiviral vectors were digested for 3-5 hours, separated by agarose electrophoresis on 2% and 0.8% gels, respectively, and purified using MinElute PCR and QIAquick gel extraction columns, respectively (Qiagen). Concentration of eluted products were estimated using an Invitrogen low mass or high mass DNA ladder and ligation reactions were set up for each hairpin construct at a molar ratio of 3:1 (ends of insert : ends of vector). Ligations of 10 μ L were carried out at 16°c overnight and 5 μ L were transformed into DH5 α subcloning efficiency cells.

Production of Recombinant Lentivirus

Lentiviruses were packaged by transient transfection of 293FT cells with a 2:1:1:1 molar ratio of lentiviral expression vector (pPRIME, pLL3.7b or pLenti6/V5-Neu) and third generation Invitrogen packaging plasmids pLP1 (Gag/Pol), pLP2 (Rev), and pLP-VSV/G (envelope), using Lipofectamine2000 reagent (Invitrogen). 12 x 10⁶ 293FT cells were seeded 24 hours prior to transfection in 150mm plates. Media was replaced just prior to transfection with media lacking antibiotics, and DNA/Lipofectamine2000 complexes were added according to the manufacturer's instructions. The following morning, the transfection mix was aspirated and replaced with fresh media containing antibiotics and cells were incubated for a further 24-48 hours prior to harvest of viral supernatant. At harvest, culture supernatants were pooled (in general six plates per construct, 20ml per plate), cleared by centrifugation at 1500g for 15 minutes at 4°C, filtered through ultra-low protein binding PVDF units (0.45 μ m, Millipore), and split into 40ml fractions. Lenti-Neu virus was stored at -80°C without concentration. Lenti-shRNA vectors were concentrated by ultracentrifugation with a Beckman-Coulter SW32ti Rotor at 28,000 rpm for 90 minutes at 4°C and the pellets were resuspended in 100-600 μ L cold PBS supplemented with 1% BSA. Lenti shRNA stocks were then titered essentially as described (Rubinson et al., 2003) by infection of HT-1080 cells with serial dilutions of virus in the presence of 6µg/ml polybrene. Forty-eight hours post-infection, eGFP-positive cells were quantified by cell assay on the Agilent Bioanalyzer using wells which contained approximately 1-10% eGFP positive cells. The titer was then calculated: number of cells plated x fraction of eGFP positive cells x dilution factor, reported as infective units per micoliter ($IU/\mu L$). These infections were carried out in duplicate and averaged.

Derivation of Neu-expressing stable cell line HTN

Parental HT-1080 cells were seeded at a density of 1 x 10⁵ per 6-well multidish 24 hours prior to infection. The following day, the culture media was replaced with 1 mL of unconcentrated Lenti-Neu culture supernatant for a period of 12 hours, followed by a media change. At 24 hours post-infection, three replicate infections (and two uninfected

negative control wells) were reseeded in 100 mm dishes and subject to selection in blasticidin-containing media to generate HTN cell populations. Cell death was observed at the first media change (4 days) in negative control wells while very few dead cells were observed in transduced HTN cultures. At 8 days post-infection, no viable cells remained in negative control cultures compared to subconfluent transduced cultures, which were reseeded for a further 4 days of selection. Independent HTN populations were maintained thereafter with periodic selection in media containing blasticidin.

Immunocyctochemistry and Immunohistochemistry

Paraffin sections (5-7 μ m) of primary tumours were analyzed by immunohistochemistry as described previously (Pechoux *et al.*, 1999) using the antibodies and washing regimen described below. Cells were affixed to coated Cytospin slides (ThermoShandon) or prepared by seeding at appropriate densities in 4-well chamber slides (Nunc) or 24-well multidishes (Corning) 24 hours prior to analysis by immunocytochemistry. Slides/wells were washed 3 times in cold PBS with 0.03% Tween-20 (PBS-T.03), fixed for 20 minutes in 4% paraformaldehyde at room temperature (RT) and washed again 3 times (3x) with PBS-T.03. Blocking was carried out with 5% normal goat serum (NGS) (Dako) in PBS-T.03 for 45 minutes at RT. Primary antibodies were added at in 5% NGS/PBS-T.03 for 1 hour at RT, followed by 3x 5 minute washes with PBS-T.03. Secondary anti-mouse IgG (AlexaFluor 594 signal amplification kit) was added at 1:1000 in 5% NGS/PBS-T.03 for 25 minutes per component with 3x 5 minute washes with PBS-T.03 between and after secondary antibody incubations. Cells were coverslipped with ProLong Gold mounting media with DAPI (Invitrogen) and analyzed by fluorescence microscopy using a Leica inverted microscope and OpenLab software. The proportion of positive cells and DAPI-stained nuclei was quantified from multiple fields chosen at random, sufficient to count 100 cells or more. Primary monoclonal antibodies: mouse anti-rat Neu (Ab-9, Labvision/NeoMarkers, 1:100); rat anti-mouse TenascinC (R&DSystems). Primary polyclonal antibodies: rabbit anti-mouse PEA3 (PC2, 1:200); rabbit anti-mouse Claudin3, Claudin7 (Abcam), and rabbit anti-mouse Lipocalin2 (culture supernatant, a generous gift from Dr. Nilsen-Hamilton, Iowa).

qRT-PCR

Total cDNA prepared previously (Barcelon, 2006; Personal communication: Kurpios and Hassell, 2006) from passage 2 mammospheres and mammospheres induced to differentiate was subjected to 40 rounds of PCR amplification on the Roche LightCycler using primers to mouse PEA3 and β2-microglobulin (internal control) and SybrGreen DNAMasterI PCR mastermix, according to the manufacturer's instructions. Expression levels of PEA3, ERM, and ER81 were quantified using the standard curve method, normalized to the corresponding levels of the internal control, and were verified with melting curve analysis and DNA electrophoresis for product specificity.

Western Immunoblotting

76

Monolayers of cells were washed twice with ice cold PBS, and pelleted by centrifugation at 5000rpm in 1ml cold PBS. Cells were lysed in modified RIPA lysis buffer (1% TritonX-100, 0.1% SDS, 1% sodium deoxycholate, 150mM NaCl, 2mM EDTA, 50mM NaF, 1mM sodium orthovanadate, with Complete Mini protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche)) on ice for 30 minutes and quantified using Bradford assay (BioRad). Protein was separated in 8% SDS-PAGE and transferred to PVDF membrane (Immobilon-P, Millipore) in a BioRad TransBlot apparatus. Membrane strips were blocked for 1 hour at RT in a 10% solution of skim milk powder in PBS-Tween20 0.1% (PBS-T.1). Primary anti-neu (Ab-3, Oncogene Science), anti-β-actin antibody (Abcam), or anti-GFP (Clontech) was added in a 10% solution of skim milk powder (in PBS-T.1) for 2 hours at room temperature and subsequently washed with three changes of PBS-T.1 for 5 minutes each. Secondary goat anti-mouse HRP-conjugated antibody (Sigma) was added in 2%/1% blocking solution for 45 minutes at room temperature and again washed 3 x 5 minutes in PBS-T.1. Staining was detected with ECL-Advance chemiluminesence and exposed to ECL film (GE Healthcare) or scanned with a Typhoon TRIO. Duplicate or triplicate bands were detected in ImageQuant software using lanes of equal dimensions with the rubber band method of background subtraction. For each experiment, we report the average relative expression of Neu (vs β -actin) and set mock-infected samples set at 100%.

Cell culture

Mammospheres and tumourspheres were isolated and cultured in serum-free stem cell media as described (Kurpios, 2005). HT1080 and 293FT cells were maintained in high glucose DMEM with 10% FBS, L-Glutamine, 1x Sodium pyruvate, 1x MEM-non-essential amino acids, Pen/Strep and Fungizone (all Invitrogen).

REFERENCES

Adriance MC, Inman JL, Petersen OW & Bissell MJ. Myoepithelial cells: good fences make good neighbors. Breast Cancer Res, 7, 190-197, 2005.

Al-Hajj M, Wicha MS, Benito-Hernandez A, Morrison SJ & Clarke MF. *Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 100, 3983-3988, 2003.

Allan AL, George R, Vantyghem SA, Lee MW, Hodgson NC, Engel CJ, Holliday RL, Girvan DP, Scott LA, Postenka CO, Al-Katib W, Stitt LW, Uede T, Chambers AF & Tuck AB. *Role of the integrin-binding protein osteopontin in lymphatic metastasis of breast cancer*. American Journal of Pathology, 169, 233-246, 2006.

Alonso L & Fuchs E. Stem cells in the skin: waste not, Wnt not. Genes and Development, 17, 1189-1200, 2003.

Asselin-Labat ML, Shackleton M, Stingl J, Vaillant F, Forrest NC, Eaves CJ, Visvader JE & Lindeman GJ. *Steroid hormone receptor status of mouse mammary stem cells*. Journal of the National Cancer Institute, 98, 1011-1014, 2006.

Asselin-Labat ML, Sutherland KD, Barker H, Thomas R, Shackleton M, Forrest NC, Hartley L, Robb L, Grosveld FG, van der Wees J, Lindeman GJ & Visvader JE. *Gata-3 is an essential regulator of mammary-gland morphogenesis and luminal-cell differentiation*. Nat Cell Biol, 9, 201-209, 2007.

Barcelon ME. Role of the Notch signaling pathway in mammospheres. McMaster University, Biochemsitry, M.Sc. thesis, 112 pages, 2006.

Baselga J, Tripathy D, Mendelsohn J, Baughman S, Benz CC, Dantis L, Sklarin NT, Seidman AD, Hudis CA, Moore J, Rosen PP, Twaddell T, Henderson IC & Norton L. *Phase II study of weekly intravenous recombinant humanized anti-p185HER2 monoclonal antibody in patients with HER2/neu-overexpressing metastatic breast cancer*. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 14, 737-744, 1996.

Baselga J, Tripathy D, Mendelsohn J, Baughman S, Benz CC, Dantis L, Sklarin NT, Seidman AD, Hudis CA, Moore J, Rosen PP, Twaddell T, Henderson IC & Norton L. *Phase II study of weekly intravenous trastuzumab (Herceptin) in patients with HER2/neu-overexpressing metastatic breast cancer.* Seminars in Oncology, 26, 78-83, 1999.

Baum CM, Weissman IL, Tsukamoto AS, Buckle AM & Peault B. Isolation of a candidate human hematopoietic stem-cell population. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 89, 2804-2808, 1992.

Blanpain C, Lowry WE, Geoghegan A, Polak L & Fuchs E. Self-renewal, multipotency, and the existence of two cell populations within an epithelial stem cell niche. Cell, 118, 635-648, 2004.

Bonnet D & Dick JE. Human acute myeloid leukemia is organized as a hierarchy that originates from a primitive hematopoietic cell. Nature Medicine, 3, 730-737, 1997.

Bresciani F. Effect of Ovarian Hormones on Duration of DNA Synthesis in Cells of the C3h Mouse Mammary Gland. Exp Cell Res, 38, 13-32, 1965.

Brisken C & Rajaram RD. *Alveolar and lactogenic differentiation*. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia, 11, 239-248, 2006.

Bruce WR & Van Der Gaag H. A Quantitative Assay for the Number of Murine Lymphoma Cells Capable of Proliferation in Vivo. Nature, 199, 79-80, 1963.

Bruxvoort KJ, Charbonneau HM, Giambernardi TA, Goolsby JC, Qian CN, Zylstra CR, Robinson DR, Roy-Burman P, Shaw AK, Buckner-Berghuis BD, Sigler RE, Resau JH, Sullivan R, Bushman W & Williams BO. *Inactivation of Apc in the mouse prostate causes prostate carcinoma*. Cancer Research, 67, 2490-2496, 2007.

Callahan R & Egan SE. *Notch signaling in mammary development and oncogenesis*. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia, 9, 145-163, 2004.

Calvi LM, Adams GB, Weibrecht KW, Weber JM, Olson DP, Knight MC, Martin RP, Schipani E, Divieti P, Bringhurst FR, Milner LA, Kronenberg HM & Scadden DT. Osteoblastic cells regulate the haematopoietic stem cell niche. Nature, 425, 841-846, 2003.

Campos LS, Decker L, Taylor V & Skarnes W. Notch, epidermal growth factor receptor, and beta1-integrin pathways are coordinated in neural stem cells. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 281, 5300-5309, 2006.

Chen C, Ouyang W, Grigura V, Zhou Q, Carnes K, Lim H, Zhao GQ, Arber S, Kurpios N, Murphy TL, Cheng AM, Hassell JA, Chandrashekar V, Hofmann MC, Hess RA & Murphy KM. *ERM is required for transcriptional control of the spermatogonial stem cell niche*. Nature, 436, 1030-1034, 2005.

Choudhury A, Charo J, Parapuram SK, Hunt RC, Hunt DM, Seliger B & Kiessling R. Small interfering RNA (siRNA) inhibits the expression of the Her2/neu gene, upregulates HLA class I and induces apoptosis of Her2/neu positive tumor cell lines. International Journal of Cancer, 108, 71-77, 2004.

Civin CI, Trischmann T, Kadan NS, Davis J, Noga S, Cohen K, Duffy B, Groenewegen I, Wiley J, Law P, Hardwick A, Oldham F & Gee A. *Highly purified CD34-positive cells reconstitute hematopoiesis*. J Clin Oncol, 14, 2224-2233, 1996.

Cobleigh MA, Vogel CL, Tripathy D, Robert NJ, Scholl S, Fehrenbacher L, Wolter JM, Paton V, Shak S, Lieberman G & Slamon DJ. *Multinational study of the efficacy and safety of humanized anti-HER2 monoclonal antibody in women who have HER2-overexpressing metastatic breast cancer that has progressed after chemotherapy for metastatic disease.* Journal of Clinical Oncology, 17, 2639-2648, 1999.

Collins AT, Berry PA, Hyde C, Stower MJ & Maitland NJ. Prospective identification of tumorigenic prostate cancer stem cells. Cancer Research, 65, 10946-10951, 2005.

Cotsarelis G. *Epithelial stem cells: a folliculocentric view*. Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 126, 1459-1468, 2006.

Crawford HC, Fingleton B, Gustavson MD, Kurpios N, Wagenaar RA, Hassell JA & Matrisian LM. The PEA3 subfamily of Ets transcription factors synergizes with beta-catenin-LEF-1 to activate matrilysin transcription in intestinal tumors. Molecular and Cellular Biology, 21, 1370-1383, 2001.

Crawford HC, Matrisian LM & Liaw L. Distinct roles of osteopontin in host defense activity and tumor survival during squamous cell carcinoma progression in vivo. Cancer Research, 58, 5206-5215, 1998.

Daniel CW. Finite growth span of mouse mammary gland serially propagated in vivo. Experientia, 29, 1422-1424, 1973.

Daniel CW, Robinson S & Silberstein GB. The transforming growth factors beta in development and functional differentiation of the mouse mammary gland. Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology, 501, 61-70, 2001.

Daniel CW & Smith GH. The mammary gland: a model for development. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia, 4, 3-8, 1999.

Daniel CW, Strickland P & Friedmann Y. Expression and functional role of E- and P-cadherins in mouse mammary ductal morphogenesis and growth. Developmental Biology, 169, 511-519, 1995.

Deome KB, Faulkin LJ, Jr., Bern HA & Blair PB. Development of mammary tumors from hyperplastic alveolar nodules transplanted into gland-free mammary fat pads of female C3H mice. Cancer Research, 19, 515-520, 1959.

Dontu G, Abdallah WM, Foley JM, Jackson KW, Clarke MF, Kawamura MJ & Wicha MS. *In vitro propagation and transcriptional profiling of human mammary stem/progenitor cells.* Genes and Development, 17, 1253-1270, 2003a.

Dontu G, Al-Hajj M, Abdallah WM, Clarke MF & Wicha MS. Stem cells in normal breast development and breast cancer. Cell Proliferation, 36 Suppl 1, 59-72, 2003b.

Dontu G, Jackson KW, McNicholas E, Kawamura MJ, Abdallah WM & Wicha MS. Role of Notch signaling in cell-fate determination of human mammary stem/progenitor cells. Breast Cancer Res, 6, R605-615, 2004.

Dor Y & Melton DA. How important are adult stem cells for tissue maintenance? Cell Cycle, 3, 1104-1106, 2004.

Dressman HK, Hans C, Bild A, Olson JA, Rosen E, Marcom PK, Liotcheva VB, Jones EL, Vujaskovic Z, Marks J, Dewhirst MW, West M, Nevins JR & Blackwell K. Gene expression profiles of multiple breast cancer phenotypes and response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy. Clin Cancer Res, 12, 819-826, 2006.

El-Tanani M, Platt-Higgins A, Rudland PS & Campbell FC. *Ets gene PEA3 cooperates with beta-catenin-Lef-1 and c-Jun in regulation of osteopontin transcription*. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 279, 20794-20806, 2004.

Faltus T, Yuan J, Zimmer B, Kramer A, Loibl S, Kaufmann M & Strebhardt K. Silencing of the HER2/neu gene by siRNA inhibits proliferation and induces apoptosis in HER2/neuoverexpressing breast cancer cells. Neoplasia, 6, 786-795, 2004.

Fuchs E, Tumbar T & Guasch G. Socializing with the neighbors: stem cells and their niche. Cell, 116, 769-778, 2004.

Furukawa Y. Cell cycle regulation of hematopoietic stem cells. Hum Cell, 11, 81-92, 1998.

Glinsky GV, Berezovska O & Glinskii AB. *Microarray analysis identifies a death-from-cancer signature predicting therapy failure in patients with multiple types of cancer.* J Clin Invest, 115, 1503-1521, 2005.

Guy CT, Webster MA, Schaller M, Parsons TJ, Cardiff RD & Muller WJ. Expression of the neu protooncogene in the mammary epithelium of transgenic mice induces metastatic disease. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 89, 10578-10582, 1992.

Haegel H, Larue L, Ohsugi M, Fedorov L, Herrenknecht K & Kemler R. Lack of beta-catenin affects mouse development at gastrulation. Development, 121, 3529-3537, 1995.

Hambardzumyan D, Squatrito M & Holland EC. Radiation resistance and stem-like cells in brain tumors. Cancer Cell, 10, 454-456, 2006.

Hao QL, Smogorzewska EM, Barsky LW & Crooks GM. In vitro identification of single CD34+CD38- cells with both lymphoid and myeloid potential. Blood, 91, 4145-4151, 1998.

Hari L, Brault V, Kleber M, Lee HY, Ille F, Leimeroth R, Paratore C, Suter U, Kemler R & Sommer L. *Lineage-specific requirements of beta-catenin in neural crest development*. Journal of Cell Biology, 159, 867-880, 2002.

Hendrix MJ, Seftor EA, Seftor RE, Kasemeier-Kulesa J, Kulesa PM & Postovit LM. *Reprogramming metastatic tumour cells with embryonic microenvironments*. Nat Rev Cancer, 7, 246-255, 2007.

Hens JR, Dann P, Zhang JP, Harris S, Robinson GW & Wysolmerski J. BMP4 and PTHrP interact to stimulate ductal outgrowth during embryonic mammary development and to inhibit hair follicle induction. Development, 134, 1221-1230, 2007.

Herschkowitz JI, Simin K, Weigman VJ, Mikaelian I, Usary J, Hu Z, Rasmussen KE, Jones LP, Assefnia S, Chandrasekharan S, Backlund MG, Yin Y, Khramtsov AI, Bastein R, Quackenbush J, Glazer RI, Brown PH, Green JE, Kopelovich L, Furth PA, Palazzo JP, Olopade OI, Bernard PS, Churchill GA, Van Dyke T & Perou CM. *Identification of conserved gene expression features between murine mammary carcinoma models and human breast tumors*. Genome Biol, 8, R76, 2007.

Hoadley KA, Weigman VJ, Fan C, Sawyer LR, He X, Troester MA, Sartor CI, Rieger-House T, Bernard PS, Carey LA & Perou CM. *EGFR associated expression profiles vary with breast tumor subtype*. BMC Genomics, 8, 258, 2007.

Hogg NA, Harrison CJ & Tickle C. *Lumen formation in the developing mouse mammary gland*. J Embryol Exp Morphol, 73, 39-57, 1983.

Horseman ND. Prolactin and mammary gland development. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia, 4, 79-88, 1999.

Hortobagyi GN. Overview of treatment results with trastuzumab (Herceptin) in metastatic breast cancer. Seminars in Oncology, 28, 43-47, 2001.

Howe LR, Crawford HC, Subbaramaiah K, Hassell JA, Dannenberg AJ & Brown AM. *PEA3 is up-regulated in response to Wnt1 and activates the expression of cyclooxygenase-2.* Journal of Biological Chemistry, 276, 20108-20115, 2001.

Hu C, Dievart A, Lupien M, Calvo E, Tremblay G & Jolicoeur P. Overexpression of activated murine Notch1 and Notch3 in transgenic mice blocks mammary gland development and induces mammary tumors. American Journal of Pathology, 168, 973-990, 2006.

Hu WY, Myers CP, Kilzer JM, Pfaff SL & Bushman FD. Inhibition of retroviral pathogenesis by RNA interference. Current Biology, 12, 1301-1311, 2002.

Huelsken J, Vogel R, Brinkmann V, Erdmann B, Birchmeier C & Birchmeier W. *Requirement* for beta-catenin in anterior-posterior axis formation in mice. Journal of Cell Biology, 148, 567-578, 2000.

Hutchinson J, Jin J, Cardiff RD, Woodgett JR & Muller WJ. Activation of Akt (protein kinase B) in mammary epithelium provides a critical cell survival signal required for tumor progression. Molecular and Cellular Biology, 21, 2203-2212, 2001.

Ikuta K & Weissman IL. Evidence that hematopoietic stem cells express mouse c-kit but do not depend on steel factor for their generation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 89, 1502-1506, 1992.

Imbert A, Eelkema R, Jordan S, Feiner H & Cowin P. Delta N89 beta-catenin induces precocious development, differentiation, and neoplasia in mammary gland. Journal of Cell Biology, 153, 555-568, 2001.

Inman CK & Shore P. The osteoblast transcription factor Runx2 is expressed in mammary epithelial cells and mediates osteopontin expression. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 278, 48684-48689, 2003.

Ito M, Yang Z, Andl T, Cui C, Kim N, Millar SE & Cotsarelis G. *Wnt-dependent de novo hair follicle regeneration in adult mouse skin after wounding*. Nature, 447, 316-320, 2007.

Ivanova NB, Dimos JT, Schaniel C, Hackney JA, Moore KA & Lemischka IR. A stem cell molecular signature. Science, 298, 601-604, 2002.

Jones C, Mackay A, Grigoriadis A, Cossu A, Reis-Filho JS, Fulford L, Dexter T, Davies S, Bulmer K, Ford E, Parry S, Budroni M, Palmieri G, Neville AM, O'Hare MJ & Lakhani SR. *Expression profiling of purified normal human luminal and myoepithelial breast cells: identification of novel prognostic markers for breast cancer*. Cancer Research, 64, 3037-3045, 2004.

Kielman MF, Rindapaa M, Gaspar C, van Poppel N, Breukel C, van Leeuwen S, Taketo MM, Roberts S, Smits R & Fodde R. *Apc modulates embryonic stem-cell differentiation by controlling the dosage of beta-catenin signaling*. Nature Genetics, 32, 594-605, 2002.

Kim CF, Jackson EL, Woolfenden AE, Lawrence S, Babar I, Vogel S, Crowley D, Bronson RT & Jacks T. *Identification of bronchioalveolar stem cells in normal lung and lung cancer*. Cell, 121, 823-835, 2005.

Kim K, Pang KM, Evans M & Hay ED. Overexpression of beta-catenin induces apoptosis independent of its transactivation function with LEF-1 or the involvement of major G1 cell cycle regulators. Molecular Biology of the Cell, 11, 3509-3523, 2000.

Kobielak K, Stokes N, de la Cruz J, Polak L & Fuchs E. Loss of a quiescent niche but not follicle stem cells in the absence of bone morphogenetic protein signaling. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 104, 10063-10068, 2007.

Komori T, Yagi H, Nomura S, Yamaguchi A, Sasaki K, Deguchi K, Shimizu Y, Bronson RT, Gao YH, Inada M, Sato M, Okamoto R, Kitamura Y, Yoshiki S & Kishimoto T. Targeted disruption of Cbfa1 results in a complete lack of bone formation owing to maturational arrest of osteoblasts. Cell, 89, 755-764, 1997.

Korinek V, Barker N, Moerer P, van Donselaar E, Huls G, Peters PJ & Clevers H. Depletion of epithelial stem-cell compartments in the small intestine of mice lacking Tcf-4. Nature Genetics, 19, 379-383, 1998.

Kouros-Mehr H, Slorach EM, Sternlicht MD & Werb Z. GATA-3 maintains the differentiation of the luminal cell fate in the mammary gland. Cell, 127, 1041-1055, 2006.

Kratochwil K. Organ specificity in mesenchymal induction demonstrated in the embryonic development of the mammary gland of the mouse. Developmental Biology, 20, 46-71, 1969.

Kubben FJ, Sier CF, Hawinkels LJ, Tschesche H, van Duijn W, Zuidwijk K, van der Reijden JJ, Hanemaaijer R, Griffioen G, Lamers CB & Verspaget HW. Clinical evidence for a protective role of lipocalin-2 against MMP-9 autodegradation and the impact for gastric cancer. Eur J Cancer, 43, 1869-1876, 2007.

Kubo F, Takeichi M & Nakagawa S. Wnt2b controls retinal cell differentiation at the ciliary marginal zone. Development, 130, 587-598, 2003.

Kurpios NA. Experimental approaches to study mammary epithelial stem cells: Role of the ETS gene PEA3 during stem cell differentiation McMaster University, Biochemistry, Ph.D. thesis, 134 pages, 2005.

Kurpios NA & Hassell JA. Functional mammary epithelial stem cells capable of self-renewal and differentiation propagated in vitro: manuscript in preparation.

Kurpios NA & Hassell JA. In vitro propagation and characterization of mouse mammary tumour-initiating cells: manuscript in preparation.

Kurpios NA, Sabolic NA, Shepherd TG, Fidalgo GM & Hassell JA. *Function of PEA3 Ets transcription factors in mammary gland development and oncogenesis*. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia, 8, 177-190, 2003.

Lako M, Lindsay S, Lincoln J, Cairns PM, Armstrong L & Hole N. Characterisation of Wnt gene expression during the differentiation of murine embryonic stem cells in vitro: role of Wnt3 in enhancing haematopoietic differentiation. Mechanisms of Development, 103, 49-59, 2001.

Lange C, Mix E, Rateitschak K & Rolfs A. Wnt signal pathways and neural stem cell differentiation. Neurodegener Dis, 3, 76-86, 2006.

Lapidot T, Sirard C, Vormoor J, Murdoch B, Hoang T, Caceres-Cortes J, Minden M, Paterson B, Caligiuri MA & Dick JE. *A cell initiating human acute myeloid leukaemia after transplantation into SCID mice*. Nature, 367, 645-648, 1994.

Lazard D, Sastre X, Frid MG, Glukhova MA, Thiery JP & Koteliansky VE. Expression of smooth muscle-specific proteins in myoepithelium and stromal myofibroblasts of normal and malignant human breast tissue. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 90, 999-1003, 1993.

Lee KS, Kim HJ, Li QL, Chi XZ, Ueta C, Komori T, Wozney JM, Kim EG, Choi JY, Ryoo HM & Bae SC. *Runx2 is a common target of transforming growth factor beta1 and bone morphogenetic protein 2, and cooperation between Runx2 and Smad5 induces osteoblast-specific gene expression in the pluripotent mesenchymal precursor cell line C2C12. Molecular and Cellular Biology, 20, 8783-8792, 2000.*

Li C, Heidt DG, Dalerba P, Burant CF, Zhang L, Adsay V, Wicha M, Clarke MF & Simeone DM. *Identification of pancreatic cancer stem cells*. Cancer Research, 67, 1030-1037, 2007a.

Li F, Tiede B, Massague J & Kang Y. Beyond tumorigenesis: cancer stem cells in metastasis. Cell Research, 17, 3-14, 2007b.

Liaw L, Birk DE, Ballas CB, Whitsitt JS, Davidson JM & Hogan BL. Altered wound healing in mice lacking a functional osteopontin gene (*spp1*). Journal of Clinical Investigation, 101, 1468-1478, 1998.

Lin Y-H & Yang-Yen H-F. The Osteopontin-CD44 Survival Signal Involves Activation of the Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase/Akt Signaling Pathway. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 276, 46024-46030, 2001.

Liou Y-C, Ryo A, Huang H-K, Lu P-J, Bronson R, Fujimori F, Uchida T, Hunter T & Lu KP. *Loss of Pin1 function in the mouse causes phenotypes resembling cyclin D1-null phenotypes.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 99, 1335-1340, 2002.

Liu S, Dontu G & Wicha MS. *Mammary stem cells, self-renewal pathways, and carcinogenesis*. Breast Cancer Res, 7, 86-95, 2005.

MacLeod RJ, Hayes M & Pacheco I. Wnt5a secretion stimulated by the extracellular calciumsensing receptor inhibits defective Wnt signaling in colon cancer cells. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol, 293, G403-411, 2007.

Mahmud N, Rose D, Pang W, Walker R, Patil V, Weich N & Hoffman R. Characterization of primitive marrow CD34+ cells that persist after a sublethal dose of total body irradiation. Experimental Hematology, 33, 1388-1401, 2005.

Masckauchan TN, Agalliu D, Vorontchikhina M, Ahn A, Parmalee NL, Li CM, Khoo A, Tycko B, Brown AM & Kitajewski J. Wnt5a signaling induces proliferation and survival of endothelial cells in vitro and expression of MMP-1 and Tie-2. Molecular Biology of the Cell, 17, 5163-5172, 2006.

Michaelson JS & Leder P. beta-catenin is a downstream effector of Wnt-mediated tumorigenesis in the mammary gland. Oncogene, 20, 5093-5099, 2001.

Miyoshi K, Rosner A, Nozawa M, Byrd C, Morgan F, Landesman-Bollag E, Xu X, Seldin DC, Schmidt EV, Taketo MM, Robinson GW, Cardiff RD & Hennighausen L. Activation of different Wnt/beta-catenin signaling components in mammary epithelium induces transdifferentiation and the formation of pilar tumors. Oncogene, 21, 5548-5556, 2002.

Montesano R & Soulie P. *Retinoids induce lumen morphogenesis in mammary epithelial cells.* Journal of Cell Science, 115, 4419-4431, 2002.

Moody SE, Sarkisian CJ, Hahn KT, Gunther EJ, Pickup S, Dugan KD, Innocent N, Cardiff RD, Schnall MD & Chodosh LA. Conditional activation of Neu in the mammary epithelium of transgenic mice results in reversible pulmonary metastasis. Cancer Cell, 2, 451-461, 2002.

Moore KA & Lemischka IR. Stem Cells and Their Niches. Science, 311, 1880-1885, 2006.

Morin PJ. Claudin proteins in human cancer: promising new targets for diagnosis and therapy. Cancer Res, 65, 9603-9606, 2005.

Moriyama A, Kii I, Sunabori T, Kurihara S, Takayama I, Shimazaki M, Tanabe H, Oginuma M, Fukayama M, Matsuzaki Y, Saga Y & Kudo A. *GFP transgenic mice reveal active canonical Wnt signal in neonatal brain and in adult liver and spleen*. Genesis, 45, 90-100, 2007.

Morohashi S, Kusumi T, Sato F, Odagiri H, Chiba H, Yoshihara S, Hakamada K, Sasaki M & Kijima H. *Decreased expression of claudin-1 correlates with recurrence status in breast cancer*. Int J Mol Med, 20, 139-143, 2007.

Morris RJ, Liu Y, Marles L, Yang Z, Trempus C, Li S, Lin JS, Sawicki JA & Cotsarelis G. *Capturing and profiling adult hair follicle stem cells*. Nature Biotechnology, 22, 411-417, 2004.

Mueller LP, Luetzkendorf J, Mueller T, Reichelt K, Simon H & Schmoll HJ. Presence of mesenchymal stem cells in human bone marrow after exposure to chemotherapy: evidence of resistance to apoptosis induction. Stem Cells, 24, 2753-2765, 2006.

Neuzil J, Stantic M, Zobalova R, Chladova J, Wang X, Prochazka L, Dong L, Andera L & Ralph SJ. *Tumour-initiating cells vs. cancer 'stem' cells and CD133: what's in the name?* Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 355, 855-859, 2007.

Nilsson SK, Johnston HM, Whitty GA, Williams B, Webb RJ, Denhardt DT, Bertoncello I, Bendall LJ, Simmons PJ & Haylock DN. Osteopontin, a key component of the hematopoietic stem cell niche and regulator of primitive hematopoietic progenitor cells. Blood, 106, 1232-1239, 2005.

Nojima M, Suzuki H, Toyota M, Watanabe Y, Maruyama R, Sasaki S, Sasaki Y, Mita H, Nishikawa N, Yamaguchi K, Hirata K, Itoh F, Tokino T, Mori M, Imai K & Shinomura Y. *Frequent epigenetic inactivation of SFRP genes and constitutive activation of Wnt signaling in gastric cancer*. Oncogene, 26, 4699-4713, 2007.

Nuyten DS, Kreike B, Hart AA, Chi JT, Sneddon JB, Wessels LF, Peterse HJ, Bartelink H, Brown PO, Chang HY & van de Vijver MJ. *Predicting a local recurrence after breast-conserving therapy by gene expression profiling*. Breast Cancer Res, 8, R62, 2006.

Olson DJ & Gibo DM. Antisense wnt-5a mimics wnt-1-mediated C57MG mammary epithelial cell transformation. Experimental Cell Research, 241, 134-141, 1998.

Olson DJ, Gibo DM, Saggers G, Debinski W & Kumar R. *Reversion of uroepithelial cell tumorigenesis by the ectopic expression of human wnt-5a*. Cell Growth and Differentiation, 8, 417-423, 1997.

Olson DJ, Oshimura M, Otte AP & Kumar R. Ectopic expression of wnt-5a in human renal cell carcinoma cells suppresses in vitro growth and telomerase activity. Tumour Biology, 19, 244-252, 1998.

Otto F, Thornell AP, Crompton T, Denzel A, Gilmour KC, Rosewell IR, Stamp GW, Beddington RS, Mundlos S, Olsen BR, Selby PB & Owen MJ. Cbfa1, a candidate gene for cleidocranial dysplasia syndrome, is essential for osteoblast differentiation and bone development. Cell, 89, 765-771, 1997.

Paddison PJ, Silva JM, Conklin DS, Schlabach M, Li M, Aruleba S, Balija V, O'Shaughnessy A, Gnoj L, Scobie K, Chang K, Westbrook T, Cleary M, Sachidanandam R, McCombie WR, Elledge SJ & Hannon GJ. *A resource for large-scale RNA-interference-based screens in mammals*. Nature, 428, 427-431, 2004.

Page MJ, Amess B, Townsend RR, Parekh R, Herath A, Brusten L, Zvelebil MJ, Stein RC, Waterfield MD, Davies SC & O'Hare MJ. Proteomic definition of normal human luminal and myoepithelial breast cells purified from reduction mammoplasties. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 96, 12589-12594, 1999.

Pechoux C, Gudjonsson T, Ronnov-Jessen L, Bissell MJ & Petersen OW. *Human mammary luminal epithelial cells contain progenitors to myoepithelial cells*. Developmental Biology, 206, 88-99, 1999.

Pegram MD, Lipton A, Hayes DF, Weber BL, Baselga JM, Tripathy D, Baly D, Baughman SA, Twaddell T, Glaspy JA & Slamon DJ. Phase II study of receptor-enhanced chemosensitivity using recombinant humanized anti-p185HER2/neu monoclonal antibody plus cisplatin in patients with HER2/neu-overexpressing metastatic breast cancer refractory to chemotherapy treatment. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 16, 2659-2671, 1998.

Petersen OW, Ronnov-Jessen L, Weaver VM & Bissell MJ. Differentiation and cancer in the mammary gland: shedding light on an old dichotomy. Advances in Cancer Research, 75, 135-161, 1998.

Prince ME, Sivanandan R, Kaczorowski A, Wolf GT, Kaplan MJ, Dalerba P, Weissman IL, Clarke MF & Ailles LE. Identification of a subpopulation of cells with cancer stem cell properties in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 104, 973-978, 2007.

Ramalho-Santos M, Yoon S, Matsuzaki Y, Mulligan RC & Melton DA. "Stemness": transcriptional profiling of embryonic and adult stem cells. Science, 298, 597-600, 2002.

Ramezani A, Hawley TS & Hawley RG. Lentiviral vectors for enhanced gene expression in human hematopoietic cells. Mol Ther, 2, 458-469, 2000.

Rasheed S, Nelson-Rees WA, Toth EM, Arnstein P & Gardner MB. Characterization of a newly derived human sarcoma cell line (HT-1080). Cancer, 33, 1027-1033, 1974.

Reynolds BA & Weiss S. Generation of neurons and astrocytes from isolated cells of the adult mammalian central nervous system. Science, 255, 1707-1710, 1992.

Reynolds BA & Weiss S. Clonal and population analyses demonstrate that an EGF-responsive mammalian embryonic CNS precursor is a stem cell. Developmental Biology, 175, 1-13, 1996.

Rowlands TM, Pechenkina IV, Hatsell SJ, Pestell RG & Cowin P. *Dissecting the roles of betacatenin and cyclin D1 during mammary development and neoplasia*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 100, 11400-11405, 2003.

Rubinson DA, Dillon CP, Kwiatkowski AV, Sievers C, Yang L, Kopinja J, Rooney DL, Zhang M, Ihrig MM, McManus MT, Gertler FB, Scott ML & Van Parijs L. A lentivirus-based system to functionally silence genes in primary mammalian cells, stem cells and transgenic mice by RNA interference. Nature Genetics, 33, 401-406, 2003.

Ryo A, Liou YC, Wulf G, Nakamura M, Lee SW & Lu KP. *PIN1 is an E2F target gene essential for Neu/Ras-induced transformation of mammary epithelial cells*. Molecular and Cellular Biology, 22, 5281-5295, 2002.

Ryo A, Nakamura M, Wulf G, Liou YC & Lu KP. Pin1 regulates turnover and subcellular localization of beta-catenin by inhibiting its interaction with APC. Nat Cell Biol, 3, 793-801, 2001.

Sakakura T, Kusano I, Kusakabe M, Inaguma Y & Nishizuka Y. Biology of mammary fat pad in fetal mouse: capacity to support development of various fetal epithelia in vivo. Development, 100, 421-430, 1987.

Scadden DT. The stem-cell niche as an entity of action. Nature, 441, 1075-1079, 2006.

Schena M, Shalon D, Davis RW & Brown PO. Quantitative monitoring of gene expression patterns with a complementary DNA microarray. Science, 270, 467-470, 1995.

Seewaldt VL, Caldwell LE, Johnson BS, Swisshelm K, Collins SJ & Tsai S. Inhibition of retinoic acid receptor function in normal human mammary epithelial cells results in increased cellular proliferation and inhibits the formation of a polarized epithelium in vitro. Experimental Cell Research, 236, 16-28, 1997.

Shackleton M, Vaillant F, Simpson KJ, Stingl J, Smyth GK, Asselin-Labat ML, Wu L, Lindeman GJ & Visvader JE. *Generation of a functional mammary gland from a single stem cell*. Nature, 439, 84-88, 2006.

Shamay A, Cohen N, Madar Z, Levin I & Gertler A. Effect of prolactin on casein and fat synthesis and casein secretion in explants of bovine mammary tissue pretreated in athymic nude mice. Journal of Dairy Science, 72, 1169-1174, 1989.

Shepherd TG, Kockeritz L, Szrajber MR, Muller WJ & Hassell JA. *The pea3 subfamily ets genes are required for HER2/Neu-mediated mammary oncogenesis*. Current Biology, 11, 1739-1748, 2001.

Shibanuma M, Kuroki T & Nose K. Isolation of a gene encoding a putative leucine zipper structure that is induced by transforming growth factor beta 1 and other growth factors. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 267, 10219-10224, 1992.

Shipitsin M, Campbell LL, Argani P, Weremowicz S, Bloushtain-Qimron N, Yao J, Nikolskaya T, Serebryiskaya T, Beroukhim R, Hu M, Halushka MK, Sukumar S, Parker LM, Anderson KS, Harris LN, Garber JE, Richardson AL, Schnitt SJ, Nikolsky Y, Gelman RS & Polyak K. *Molecular definition of breast tumor heterogeneity*. Cancer Cell, 11, 259-273, 2007.

Silberstein GB. Postnatal mammary gland morphogenesis. Microscopy Research and Technique, 52, 155-162, 2001.

Silberstein GB & Daniel CW. Glycosaminoglycans in the basal lamina and extracellular matrix of the developing mouse mammary duct. Developmental Biology, 90, 215-222, 1982.

Simon-Assmann P, Turck N, Sidhoum-Jenny M, Gradwohl G & Kedinger M. In vitro models of intestinal epithelial cell differentiation. Cell Biology and Toxicology, 23, 241-256, 2007.

Singh SK, Clarke ID, Hide T & Dirks PB. Cancer stem cells in nervous system tumors. Oncogene, 23, 7267-7273, 2004a.

Singh SK, Clarke ID, Terasaki M, Bonn VE, Hawkins C, Squire J & Dirks PB. Identification of a cancer stem cell in human brain tumors. Cancer Research, 63, 5821-5828, 2003.

Singh SK, Hawkins C, Clarke ID, Squire JA, Bayani J, Hide T, Henkelman RM, Cusimano MD & Dirks PB. *Identification of human brain tumour initiating cells*. Nature, 432, 396-401, 2004b.

Slamon DJ, Leyland-Jones B, Shak S, Fuchs H, Paton V, Bajamonde A, Fleming T, Eiermann W, Wolter J, Pegram M, Baselga J & Norton L. Use of chemotherapy plus a monoclonal

antibody against HER2 for metastatic breast cancer that overexpresses HER2. New England Journal of Medicine, 344, 783-792, 2001.

Smith GH & Chepko G. *Mammary epithelial stem cells*. Microscopy Research and Technique, 52, 190-203, 2001.

Sotiriou C, Neo SY, McShane LM, Korn EL, Long PM, Jazaeri A, Martiat P, Fox SB, Harris AL & Liu ET. Breast cancer classification and prognosis based on gene expression profiles from a population-based study. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 100, 10393-10398, 2003.

Stegmeier F, Hu G, Rickles RJ, Hannon GJ & Elledge SJ. A lentiviral microRNA-based system for single-copy polymerase II-regulated RNA interference in mammalian cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 102, 13212-13217, 2005.

Stelwagen K, McFadden HA & Demmer J. *Prolactin, alone or in combination with glucocorticoids, enhances tight junction formation and expression of the tight junction protein occludin in mammary cells.* Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology, 156, 55-61, 1999.

Stier S, Ko Y, Forkert R, Lutz C, Neuhaus T, Grunewald E, Cheng T, Dombkowski D, Calvi LM, Rittling SR & Scadden DT. Osteopontin is a hematopoietic stem cell niche component that negatively regulates stem cell pool size. Journal of Experimental Medicine, 201, 1781-1791, 2005.

Stingl J, Eirew P, Ricketson I, Shackleton M, Vaillant F, Choi D, Li HI & Eaves CJ. *Purification and unique properties of mammary epithelial stem cells*. Nature, 439, 993-997, 2006a.

Stingl J, Raouf A, Eirew P & Eaves CJ. *Deciphering the mammary epithelial cell hierarchy*. Cell Cycle, 5, 1519-1522, 2006b.

Stingl J, Raouf A, Emerman JT & Eaves CJ. Epithelial progenitors in the normal human mammary gland. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia, 10, 49-59, 2005.

Tan BT, Park CY, Ailles LE & Weissman IL. The cancer stem cell hypothesis: a work in progress. Laboratory Investigation, 86, 1203-1207, 2006.

Terstappen LW, Huang S, Safford M, Lansdorp PM & Loken MR. Sequential generations of hematopoietic colonies derived from single nonlineage-committed CD34+CD38- progenitor cells. Blood, 77, 1218-1227, 1991.

Torres MA, Yang-Snyder JA, Purcell SM, DeMarais AA, McGrew LL & Moon RT. Activities of the Wnt-1 class of secreted signaling factors are antagonized by the Wnt-5A class and by a

dominant negative cadherin in early Xenopus development. Journal of Cell Biology, 133, 1123-1137, 1996.

Trimble MS, Xin JH, Guy CT, Muller WJ & Hassell JA. PEA3 is overexpressed in mouse metastatic mammary adenocarcinomas. Oncogene, 8, 3037-3042, 1993.

Tsukamoto AS, Grosschedl R, Guzman RC, Parslow T & Varmus HE. Expression of the int-1 gene in transgenic mice is associated with mammary gland hyperplasia and adenocarcinomas in male and female mice. Cell, 55, 619-625, 1988.

Tumbar T, Guasch G, Greco V, Blanpain C, Lowry WE, Rendl M & Fuchs E. Defining the epithelial stem cell niche in skin. Science, 303, 359-363, 2004.

Uchida N & Weissman IL. Searching for hematopoietic stem cells: evidence that Thy-1.1lo Lin- Sca-1 + cells are the only stem cells in C57BL/Ka-Thy-1.1 bone marrow. J Exp Med, 175, 175-184, 1992.

Ueki K, Algenstaedt P, Mauvais-Jarvis F & Kahn CR. Positive and negative regulation of phosphoinositide 3-kinase-dependent signaling pathways by three different gene products of the p85alpha regulatory subunit. Molecular and Cellular Biology, 20, 8035-8046, 2000.

Vaes BLT, Ducy P, Sijbers AM, Hendriks JMA, van Someren EP, de Jong NG, van den Heuvel ER, Olijve W, van Zoelen EJJ & Dechering KJ. *Microarray analysis on Runx2-deficient mouse embryos reveals novel Runx2 functions and target genes during intramembranous and endochondral bone formation*. Bone, 39, 724-738, 2006.

Vescovi AL, Reynolds BA, Fraser DD & Weiss S. *bFGF regulates the proliferative fate of unipotent (neuronal) and bipotent (neuronal/astroglial) EGF-generated CNS progenitor cells.* Neuron, 11, 951-966, 1993.

Visnjic D, Kalajzic Z, Rowe DW, Katavic V, Lorenzo J & Aguila HL. *Hematopoiesis is severely altered in mice with an induced osteoblast deficiency*. Blood, 103, 3258-3264, 2004.

Vogel CL, Cobleigh MA, Tripathy D, Gutheil JC, Harris LN, Fehrenbacher L, Slamon DJ, Murphy M, Novotny WF, Burchmore M, Shak S, Stewart SJ & Press M. Efficacy and safety of trastuzumab as a single agent in first-line treatment of HER2-overexpressing metastatic breast cancer. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 20, 719-726, 2002.

Wang F, Weaver VM, Petersen OW, Larabell CA, Dedhar S, Briand P, Lupu R & Bissell MJ. *Reciprocal interactions between beta1-integrin and epidermal growth factor receptor in three-dimensional basement membrane breast cultures: a different perspective in epithelial biology.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 95, 14821-14826, 1998.

Wang JC & Dick JE. *Cancer stem cells: lessons from leukemia*. Trends in Cell Biology, 15, 494-501, 2005.

Wang Y, Klijn JG, Zhang Y, Sieuwerts AM, Look MP, Yang F, Talantov D, Timmermans M, Meijer-van Gelder ME, Yu J, Jatkoe T, Berns EM, Atkins D & Foekens JA. *Gene-expression profiles to predict distant metastasis of lymph-node-negative primary breast cancer*. Lancet, 365, 671-679, 2005.

West M, Blanchette C, Dressman H, Huang E, Ishida S, Spang R, Zuzan H, Olson JA, Jr., Marks JR & Nevins JR. *Predicting the clinical status of human breast cancer by using gene expression profiles*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 98, 11462-11467, 2001.

Wicha MS, Liu S & Dontu G. Cancer stem cells: an old idea--a paradigm shift. Cancer Research, 66, 1883-1890; discussion 1895-1886, 2006.

Wilde CJ, Knight CH & Flint DJ. Control of milk secretion and apoptosis during mammary involution. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia, 4, 129-136, 1999.

Woodward WA, Chen MS, Behbod F, Alfaro MP, Buchholz TA & Rosen JM. *WNT/beta-catenin mediates radiation resistance of mouse mammary progenitor cells*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 104, 618-623, 2007.

Xin JH, Cowie A, Lachance P & Hassell JA. *Molecular cloning and characterization of PEA3, a new member of the Ets oncogene family that is differentially expressed in mouse embryonic cells*. Genes and Development, 6, 481-496, 1992.

Young MR, Wright MA, Lathers DM & Messingham KA. Increased resistance to apoptosis by bone marrow CD34(+)progenitor cells from tumor-bearing mice. International Journal of Cancer, 82, 609-615, 1999.

Ziegler S, Rohrs S, Tickenbrock L, Moroy T, Klein-Hitpass L, Vetter IR & Muller O. Novel target genes of the Wnt pathway and statistical insights into Wnt target promoter regulation. Febs J, 272, 1600-1615, 2005.

McMaster - Biochemistry and Biomedical Sciences

APPENDIX 1

FIGURES AND TABLES

Table 1. Ontological analyses of genes preferential to mammospheres and mammospheres induced to differentiate

Mammospheres

Mammospheres induced to differentiate

overlap

9/108 215

32/489

62/1721 4/5 2/4 2/2

9/89

22/252 19/59 19/55

19/451

4/32

45/941 7/99 7/86 2/3

7/91

5/55

p-value 0.000914

.

GO Biological Proc	ess	p-value	overlap	GO Biological Proce	\$5	p-value
cell cvcle		1.75E-21	59 / 329	chemotaxis		0.000914
Cona2 Conh2	cyclin A2			Asnn	asporin	0.0051
Cond1	cyclin D1			Cxcl12	stromal cell derived factor 1 isoforms alpha, beta, gamm	a precursor
Cdk2	cyclin-dependent kinase 2 isoform 2			Cxcl5	chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand 5	
Cdk4	cyclin-dependent kinase 4			Fmod	fibromodulin	
Cks1b	CDC28 protein kinase 1b			li1b	interleukin 1, beta	
cell proliferation		0.000328	21 / 217	Slit2	SLIT2; slit homolog 2	
	positive regulation of cell proliferation	0.000755	7/37	cell adhesion	a disintegrin and metallonrotease domain 12 (meltrin aln	1.54E-07
Jdk4	cyclin-dependent kinase 4			Col1a1	collagen pro-alpha-1 type I chain; procollagen, type I, alt	pha 1
-KIL	eniregulin			Col5a1	procollagen, type V, alpha 1	
(i-67	Mki-67			FbIn5	fibulin 5	
3100a6	S100 calcium binding protein A6 (calcyclin)			Itabl1	integrin, beta-like 1	
Tafb1	transforming growth factor, beta 1			Lama4	laminin, alpha 4	
ONA replication		1.44E-09	21 / 103	signal trans dusting		0 000949
Pona	DNA replication initiation	1.45E-07	7/12		insulin-like growth factor receptor signaling pathway	1.39E-06
Pola1	polymerase (DNA directed), alpha 1			plat	telet-derived growth factor receptor signaling pathway	0.00311
Pole2	DNA polymerase epsilon small subunit; DNA polymerase	epsilon subunit 2			regulation of Notch signaling pathway	0.000534
Prim1	primase p49 subunit; DNA primase small subunit, 49kDa			-	Wnt receptor signaling pathway	0.000219
Rpa2	replication protein A2			Anapt4	angiopoleun 4	
				Clar	follistatin	
NA packaging		0.000221	16/138	Fzd2	frizzled 2	
f2afx	H2A histone family, member X			laf1	insulin-like growth factor 1	
12alz	HZA histone tamity, member Z			ll1r1	interleukin 1 receptor, type I	
na(1 Hollo	histore aminotransferase 1			IL1RA	interleukin 1 receptor antagonist	
Smarca5	ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling protein SNE2H St	NI/SNE related ma	trix associated actin	ll6st	interleukin 6 signal transducer	
SindicaJ	Arr -dependent cinoniaun temodeling protein ora 211, 64	initional related, ma	ten association, aven	Pdafc	platelet-derived growth factor, C polypeptide	
DNA metabolism		3 06E-13	53 / 410	Sfrp1	secreted frizzled-related sequence protein 1	
	DNA modification	3.93E-05	8/32	Sfrp2	secreted frizzled-related sequence protein 2	
	DNA methylation	1.79E-05	8/29	Wisp1	WNT1 inducible signaling pathway protein 1	
Dnmt1	DNA methyltransferase (cytosine-5) 1			Wnt5a	wingless-related MMTV integration site 5A	
Hmga1	high mobility group AT-hook 1 isoform I					
Hmqa2	high mobility group AT-hook 2			cell death	and a set of a set of a set	0.00634
Hmgb3	high mobility group box 3			and the second	programmed cell death	0.00665
Rad21	RAD21 homolog			A#5	activating transcription factor 5	0.00865
				Rnin3	BCI 2/adenovirus F1B 19kDa-interacting protein 1 NIP3	1. A. A.
microtubule-based	Drocess	8.28E-05	19 / 168	Dank1	death associated protein kinase 1	
Kif18a	kinesin family member 18A			Ddit3	DNA-damage inducible transcript 3	
Nusap1	nucleolar protein ANK I			Gadd45b	growth arrest and DNA-damage-inducible 45 beta	
RanBP1	Ran/IC4 Binding Protein			Gas2	growth arrest specific 2	
Stmn1 Tubb6	stammin 1 tubulin, beta 6			Trib3	tribbles homolog 3	
DNA processing		0.00000	20/220	cellular morphogene	sis	1.13E-07
Coeb1	cytoplasmic polyadenylation element-binding protein	0.00099	20/220	THE REPORT OF A	regulation of cell size	3.59E-17
Hnrpa2b1	heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein A2/B1 isoform 1	1:			cell arowth	7.86E-18
Lsm5	LSM5 homolog. U6 small nuclear RNA associated			Gas6	growth arrest specific 6	
Refbp2	RNA and export factor binding protein 2				insulin-like growth factor binding protein 2	so milated some
Sf3a3	splicing factor 3a, subunit 3			Neu	neural precursor cell expressed, developmentally down-	-regulated gene
Sfpq	PTB-associated splicing factor			Dree11	protease serine 11 (laf binding)	
				Socs3	suppressor of cytokine signaling 3	
cell adhesion	focal adhesion formation	0.00993	37/489		suppressed of system of system is a	
Dd34	CD34 antigen			generation of precur	sor metabolites and energy	0.00931
Dd44	CD44			Eno1	enclase 1, alpha non-neuron	
Col5a3	procollagen, type V, alpha 3			Fads3	fatty acid desaturase 3	
cam1	intercellular adhesion molecule			Gaa	glucosidase, alpha, acid	
Itgav	Integrin alpha V			H6pd	hexose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (glucose 1-dehydrogenase)	ogenase)
Lamaz	laminin-z alphaz chain precursor			Pfkl	phosphofructokinase, liver, B-type	
ipid metabolism	fatty acid elongation	0.00343	29/403	regulation of phosph	lorviation	0.0061
Eloyl6	ELOVL family member 6, elongation of long chain fatty ac	ids	210		regulation of protein amino acid phosphorylation	0.00425
Hsd17b12	hydroxysteroid (17-beta) dehydrogenase 12 protein			Pdafc	platelet-derived growth factor, C polypeptide	
Lipa	lipase, endothelial			Pdafd	platelet-derived growth factor D	
Mall	monoglyceride lipase			Socs3	suppressor of cytokine signaling 3	
Pla2g7	phospholipase A2, group VII					
Rbp1	retinol binding protein 1, cellular			organ development	blood upped	3.78E-06
					piood vessel morphogenesis	0.00816
negative regulation acid metabolism	of nucleobase, nucleoside, nucleotide and nucleic	0.00509	8/64		angiogenesis positive regulation of odontogenesis skeletal development	0.00158
Atnif1	ATPase inhibitory factor 1			Acta2	actin, alpha 2, smooth muscle, aorta	(a) (a) (a)
Bhlhb2	basic helix-loop-helix domain containing class R2			Aes	amino-terminal enhancer of split	
Psmc5	protease (prosome, macropain) 26S subunit, ATPase 5			Cryab	Crystallin, alpha B	
Tbx2	T-box 2			EphDS	cutos induced growth factor	
Th1I	TH1 homolog			GDNFR-beta	dial cell line derived neurotrophic factor family receptor	alpha 1
				Id3	inhibitor of DNA binding 3	
collagen catabolism		0.00218	4/14	Myh9	myosin, heavy polypeptide 9, non-muscle isoform 1	
vimp9	matrix metalloproteinase 9			Sema3c	semaphorin 3C	
Vinip10 Vimp14	maux metalloproteinase 10 matrix metalloproteinase 14 (membrane-inserted)			Tafb3	transforming growth factor, beta 3	
T				Veqfa	vascular endothelial growth factor A	
hromosome organ	ization and biogenesis	8.28E-05	19 / 168	bone remodeling	的影响市民的现在的过去分词是一个人	0.00875
Mom2	nap structure specific endonuclease 1 minichromosome maintenance deficient 2 mitotin			Csf1	colony stimulating factor 1	
Drm1	ribonucleotide reductase M4			Nox4	Nox4 protein; NADPH oxidase 4	
viii1	Inoundieoline reductase M.I					

Table 2. List of β -catenin	signaling pathway	components	preferentially	expressed	in mammosp	heres (UMS)	or mammospheres	induced to
differentiate (DMS).								

Symbol	Cono namo	Fold change in		Regulation	Eurotion		
Symbol	Gene name	UMS	JMS DMS		Function		
Wnt2	wingless integration site 2	19.83		+	secreted: activates signaling via frizzled binding		
Fzdb	frizzled-related protein	10.14			secreted: competes with frizzled receptors for wnt binding		
Tcf7	T-cell factor 7	3.91		+	co-activates transcription with β-catenin		
NLK	nemo-like kinase	3.74			inhibitis Tcf activity; activated by TGF-β		
Tcf4	T-cell factor 4	3.19		+	co-activates transcription with β-catenin		
Pin1	peptidyl-prolyl cis/trans isomerase) NIMA-interacting	2.09		+	stabilizes β-catenin		
Tcf19	T-cell factor 19	2.06		+	co-activates transcription with β-catenin		
Axin2	Axin-2	2			β-catenin destruction complex		
Sfrp2	secreted frizzled-related protein 2		27.99	-	secreted: competes with frizzled receptors for wnt binding		
Sfrp1	secreted frizzled-related protein 1		14.04		secreted: competes with frizzled receptors for wnt binding		
Dact1	dapper homolog 1		4.11	-	binds disheveled; inhibits β-catenin signal transduction		
Fzd2	frizzled homolog 2		3.59	+	extracellular wnt receptor		
Fzd8	frizzled homolog 8		3.36	+	extracellular wnt receptor		
Wnt5a	wingless integration site 5a		2.15	+	secreted: activates signaling via frizzled binding; non-canonical		

.

Symbol	Como namo	# of PEA3	Fold change in	
Symbol	Gene name	sites	UMS	DMS
Etv4	ets variant gene 4 (E1A enhancer binding protein, E1AF); PEA3		38.97	
Ptgs2	cox-2; prostaglandin endoperoxide synthase 2		37.24	
Gsta4	glutathione S-transferase, alpha 4		34.17	
Dusp6	dual specificity phosphatase 6		27.02	
Plf	proliferin		18.7	
Cldn1	claudin 1		14.77	
Ccl2	chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 2	9	7.48	
Dlk1	delta-like 1		6.05	
Runx2	runt related transcription factor 2		6.04	
Ccnd1	cyclinD1		5.59	
Idb2	inhibitor of DNA binding 2	E. A. S. A. S. A.	5.39	
Sdc4	syndecan 4	3	5.38	ALLAN STREET COLORA STREET
Ereg	epiregulin		4.96	
Kitl	kit ligand		4.24	
Tfrc	transferrin receptor		4.21	
Robo1	roundabout homolog 1 (Drosophila)		3.9	
Ank	progressive ankylosis		3.89	
Tgfbr1	TGF receptor beta -1		3.66	
Ccna2	cyclinA2		3.35	
Gnpi	glucosamine-6-phosphate deaminase 1		3.2	
Lcn2	lipocalin 2	4	3.12	
Egr1	early growth response 1	2	3.02	
Hmgcr	3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-Coenzyme A reductase		2.92	
MMP14	matrix metalloproteinase 14 (membrane-inserted)		2.81	
Pcdh7	proto-cadherin 7		2.7	
ll1rl1	interleukin 1 receptor-like 1		2.62	
Cntn1	contactin 1		2.57	
Spp1/Opn	Osteopontin/Secreted phosphoprotein-1	3	2.49	
Jun	jun oncogene		2.26	
Tyms	thymidylate synthase	5	2.17	CONTRACTOR DE LA CONTRACT
Elk3	ELK3, member of ETS oncogene family	開始的時代的	2.15	
Rfc4	replication factor C (activator 1) 4	2	2.1	
CD44	CD44 antigen		2.1	
H2-D1	H2D1 immunoglobulin heavy chain		2.02	
Axin2	Axin-2 (component of Wnt signaling)		2	
				24.65
IDD4	Inhibitor of DINA binding 4			31.65
Cxcl5	chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand 5	5		30.//
Ctgr	Connective tissue growth factor	2		10.87
Wisp2	wiNTT inducible signaling pathway protein 2	Z		9.04
Cyrol	cysteine rich protein 61	The state of the s		8.03
FZQ2	intzled nomolog 2 (component of whit signaling)	-		5.53
	Interieukin Treceptor antagonist	3		5,44
Coldat	procollagen, type XVIII, alpha 1	1	THE REAL PROPERTY OF	4./92
Corran	inculia like mouth feater binding metain 7	4		4.43
Igibp/	CCAAT/ashas say his diag masteria (C/ED) dalta			3.64
Lbp	lipopolycoccharido binding protein (C/EBF), delta	3		2.45
Lup	npoporysacchande binding protein	A DESCRIPTION OF THE OWNER OF THE	Samolic Strates and	5.50
Dusp1	dual specificity phosphatase 1			3.29
Fst	follistatin			2.94
VEGFa	vascular endothelial growth factor a			2.42
Mubo	musin hogy polypoptide 0, pon music	and a state of the second s	angest all the set of the set of the set	2.24
Nyiig	myosin, neavy porypeptide 9, non-muscle	STREET, STREET	and the second	2.34
Wisp1	WNI1 inducible signaling pathway protein 1	The second		2.2
Wnt5a	ingless-related MMTV integration site 5a (component of Wnt signaling	g)		2.15
Cebpb	CCAAT/enhancer binding protein (C/EBP), beta			2.13
Pedf	nigment enithelium-derived factor	2	Construction of the other states	2.13
i cui			Sector Sector Sector	2.15
Adam12	a disintegrin and metallopeptidase domain 12 (meltrin alpha)	No. Constanting of the		2.1
Actb	actin beta (cytoplasmic)	2		2.093

Table 3. Known Wnt/ β -catenin target genes are differentially expressed in mammospheres and differentiated cells. Many genes known to be regulated by Wnt/ β -catenin signaling are differentially expressed in both mammospheres and differentiated cells, suggesting complex regulation of Wnt signaling in mammospheres. Because ETS transcription factor PEA3 is known to cooperate with β -catenin in the activation of transcription, genes with multiple PEA3 binding sites upstream of their transcriptional start site have been indicated.



Figure 1 Mammospheres express genes in common with cells of the wild type mammary gland. Genes scored with present calls from two replicate samples deriving from each of 5, 10, and 15-week old virgin FVB mice were pooled (present calls in 6 of 6 samples) to establish a cohort of genes with consistent detectable expression in the mammary gland, independent of preferential expression at any timepoint. (A) This list of expressed genes was compared against mammospheres and mammospheres induced to differentiate, revealing that the expression of many genes was maintained over the course of *in vitro* propagation and differentiation. To learn what proportion of genes preferential to either cell population were similarly expressed in primary mammary tissue, lists from mammospheres induced to differentiate *in vitro* (B) or mammospheres (C) were overlapped with present calls in the mammary gland to quantify the proportion of genes potentially induced as a consequence of culturing the cells *in vitro*.



Figure 2 Mammospheres preferentially express genes characteristic of stem cells from multiple tissues. Genes preferential to nerual (NSC), embryonic (ESC), and hematopoeitic stem cells (HSC) were identified from two independent reports of "stemness" transcriptional profiling. (A) The combined list of stem cell genes was overlapped with transcripts preferential to mammospheres in culture to reveal 40 genes in common. Transcripts demonstrated in independent reports to be preferential to stem cells from (B) neural, (C) embryonic, (D) hematopoietic, and (E) hair follicle stem cells are overlapped with mammosphere-specific genes. Previously established markers of early progenitors or stem cells from various tissue compartments are counted among the genes in common to mammospheres and the indicated stem cell populations.



Figure 3. Differential expression of tenascinC in mammospheres and mammospheres induced to differentiate. TenascinC (RED) was identified as preferentially expressed in mammospheres (A) compared to differentiated cells (B), and is one of the "stemness" genes expressed among enriched populations of neural, embryonic, and hair follicle stem cells. Thus tenascinC may play a role in maintaining the multpotency of mammosphere-resident cells, or may contribute to their niche. DAPI staining (blue) marks nuclei. Scale bar, 100 μ m.

101



Ccl12, Sparcl1, Mmp10, Plxdc1, Gap43, Gng11, Rps6ka2, Col18a1, Pkig, Nes, Gas7, Col15a1, Ctsk, Chn1, Tcf4, Lum, Icam1, Fap, Evi2a, S100a4, Gpnmb, Sca2, Nr2f2, Tnc, Spon1, Lama2, Itga5, Akr1b3, Col4a1, Spon2, Slc2a3



induced to

differentiate

513

Figure 4. Human and mouse mammospheres preferentially express few genes in common. Transcripts preferential to mammospheres (A) and differentiated mammospheres (B) were overlapped with corresponding samples from human cells, illustrating a low correspondence of these data considering the similarity of the tissues of origin.



Figure 5. Schematic of canonical and non-canonical Wnt/ β -catenin signaling . In the absence of soluble secreted Wnt proteins (A), β -catenin is bound by the scaffolding protein Axin, adenomatous polyposis coli (APC), and glycogen synthase-kinase 3β (GSK3 β) which results in its phosphorylation. β -catenin is then ubiquitinated and degraded. **Canonical signaling** is activated when Wnt proteins stimulate membrane-bound frizzled receptors to activate disheveled, which binds GSK3 β ultimately permitting accumulation of β -catenin. Free β -catenin translocates to the nucleus to participate in Tcf/Lef-dependent transcription of target genes. (B) Non-Canonical signaling of β -catenin involves the activation of frizzled by Wnt5a and induces changes in cytoskeletal organization and cell polarity.

McMaster - Biochemistry and Biomedical Sciences



Figure 6. Differential expression of PEA3 and its subfamily members in mammospheres and differentiated mammospheres. (A) PEA3 is expressed in 75% of mammosphere cells, but only in 22% (B) of differentiated mammosphere cells. Scale bars, 100 μ m. (C) Members of the PEA3 subfamily of Ets transcription factors are preferentially expressed in mammospheres compared to differentiated cells, as verified by qRT-PCR. Levels of expression and standard deviations are reported for mammospheres and mammospheres induced to differentiate *in vitro*. Quantitative RT-PCR was performed using the standard curve method, where all concentrations were normalized to the internal control gene β 2-microglobulin.



.



Figure 8. Tumourspheres express an amplified stem cell signature. Genes preferentially expressed (enriched) in tumourspheres overlap more significantly with those enriched in mammospheres (**A**), than they do with those enriched in differentiated mammospheres (**B**). Also, tumourspheres exhibit greater overlap with hair follicle stem cells (**C**) than mammospheres do, suggesting an amplified stem cell phenotype in tumourspheres.






Figure 10. Tumourspheres express genes in common with primary Her2/Neu-induced mammary tumours: selection of *tumourness* genes. (A) Genes commonly preferential to mouse tumourspheres and two independent data sets from primary Her2/Neu-induced mammary tumours are potential biomarkers of the MMTV-Neu model of human breast cancer, and may also include candidate therapeutic targets. Genes preferentially expressed in tumourspheres (grey) are overlapped with Her2/Neu-induced primary tumours analyzed in our lab (green) and elsewhere (red). The 68 genes in common represent a consensus set which identify Her2/Neu-induced tumour cells *in vitro* and *in vivo*. (B) Gene tree dendogram of all genes preferential to tumourspheres when compared with differentiated mammospheres. In these analyses, differentiated cells are used as a baseline (normalized expression level of 1.0 or 100%, heatmap yellow). Regions are marked where the expression profiles of mammospheres and differentiated mammospheres are similar but differ from that of tumourspheres. These genes were selected and filtered for preferential expression in primary tumours vs. the normal mammary gland. (C) The expression profile of tumourness genes across *in vitro* and *in vivo* mRNA samples deriving from normal mouse mammary tissue and Her2/Neu-induced mammary tumours.





Figure 11. Her2/Neu-induced mouse mammary tumours express tumourness genes. Primary tumour 3691, serially passaged (generation 2) tumour 3852 and cultured tumourspheres deriving from tumour 3736 are stained with antibodies to Lipocalin2 (**top row**), and tight junction proteins Claudin 3 (**middle row**) and Claudin 7 (**bottom row**). Scale bar, 100µm.

M.Sc. Thesis - D.W.Gludish

McMaster - Biochemistry and Biomedical Sciences













McMaster - Biochemistry and Biomedical Sciences

Figure 14 – Linear response titration of Neu⁺ lysate. Whole cell lysates were prepared from HTN cells (HT1080 cells transduced with a recombinant lentivirus encoding Rat neu cDNA. Indicated quantities of total cell lysate were separated by SDS-PAGE (8%) as described previously. Membranes were incubated for 1 hour with primary antibodies Ab-3 and loading control β -actin (1:20,000 in 5% milk as described previously) and with goat anti-mouse IgG-HRP conjugate (Fab-specific, Sigma, 1:80,000) for 40 minutes at room temperature. Membranes were washed 3 times and exposed to film using ECL Advance reagents as per the manufacturer's instructions (**A**). Bands corresponding to Neu protein and β -actin were detected and quantified using Typhoon Trio (GE Healthcare) and ImageQuant software. (**B**) Calculated band densities for both Neu protein and β -actin are plotted versus micrograms of total lysate loaded for electrophoresis. Linear trendline reqression is reported with associated R-squared values for each. Samples corresponding to 25ug lysate were non-linear and were excluded from these analyses due to saturation of signal.



Figure 15 – Determination of lentiviral titer in HTN cells. Dilutions of concentrated lentivirus corresponding to 1 μ L x 10⁻², 10⁻³, and 10⁻⁴ were used to infect cells. Infective viral titer was determined 48 hours later as described by calculating the exact proportion of eGFP-positive cells in wells with approximately 1-10% of cells positive (**G**). Shown are Agilent Bioanalyzer flow cytometric dotplots from 2 X 10⁵ HTN cells infected in duplicate with 1.0 x 10⁻² μ L of lentiviruses R1 (**A**), R2 (**B**), R3 (**C**), NSC (**D**), and pLL3.7b (**E**). Cells infected with LentiLox virus pLL3.7b (**E**) and those not infected with any virus (mock infected, **F**) were included as positive and negative controls, respectively. The percentage of eGFP positive cells and the corresponding event counts are shown for one of two infections performed and analyzed in parallel (**G**).



Figure 16. Silencing of Neu expression by LentishRNA construct R1. HT1080 cells engineered to stably express the rat cDNA encoding Her2/Neu (HTN1 cells) were infected in duplicate wells of a 6 well dish with 0 μ l (mock), 1 μ l, or 10 μ l doses of lentiviral shRNA R1. Viral titer of 2.7 x 108 TU/ml corresponds to MOI ~13 for 10 μ l R1. A similar infection was carried out with a nonsilencing (scrambled) shRNA lentiviral vector (NSC, 4.7 x 10^8 TU/ml) where 10 μ l corresponded to MOI ~23 (NSC). Lysates were collected 8 days post-infection, and 10 μ g were loaded per lane for separation by western blot (A). A small standard curve of dilutions from the NSC 10 μ l infection is included for comparison with Neu protein levels in samples infected with R1 silencing construct. The Neu protein levels in the 5, 2.5, and 1 μ g standard curve lanes approximately correspond to 50%, 25%, and 10% residual Neu expression. (B) PVDF membranes were scanned with a Typhoon Trio and quantified using ImageQuant software. This experiment was performed in technical duplicate

and was repeated in a second biological

experiment with similar results.

B

114



Figure 17. Silencing of Neu expression by Lenti-shRNA construct R1. HT1080 cells engineered to stably express the rat cDNA encoding Her2/Neu (HTN1 cells) were infected in duplicate wells of a 6 well dish with $0 \mu l \pmod{2}$ 1 μ l, or 10 μ l doses of lentiviral shRNA **R1**. Viral titer of 2.7 x 108 TU/ml corresponds to MOI ~13 for 10 μ l R1. A similar infection was carried out with a non-silencing (scrambled) shRNA lentiviral vector (NSC, 4.7 x 10^8 TU/ml) where 10 μ l corresponded to MOI ~23 (NSC). Lysates were collected 8 days post-infection, and 10 µg were loaded per lane for separation by western blot (A). A small standard curve of dilutions from the NSC 10 μ l infection is included for comparison with Neu protein levels in samples infected with R1 silencing construct. The Neu protein levels in the 5, 2.5, and 1 μ g standard curve lanes approximately correspond to 50%, 25%, and 10% residual Neu expression. (B) PVDF membranes were scanned with a Typhoon Trio and quantified using ImageQuant software. This experiment was performed in technical duplicate and was repeated in a second biological experiment with similar results.

McMaster - Biochemistry and Biomedical Sciences



stably express the rat cDNA encoding Her2/Neu (HTN1 cells) were infected in duplicate wells of a 6 well dish with 0 μ l (mock), 1 μ l, or 10 μ l doses of lentiviral shRNA R2. Viral titer of 3.2 x 108 TU/ml corresponds to MOI ~16 for 10 μ l R2. A similar infection was carried out with a nonsilencing (scrambled) shRNA lentiviral vector (NSC, 4.7 x 10^8 TU/ml) where 10 μ l corresponded to MOI ~23 (NSC). Lysates were collected 8 days post-infection, and 10 μ g were loaded per lane for separation by western blot (A). A small standard curve of dilutions from the NSC 10 μ l infection is included for comparison with Neu protein levels in samples infected with R2 silencing construct. The Neu protein levels in the 5, 2.5, and 1 μ g standard curve lanes approximately correspond to 50%, 25%, and 10% residual Neu expression. (B) PVDF membranes were scanned with a Typhoon Trio and quantified using ImageQuant software. This

experiment was performed in technical duplicate

and was repeated in a second biological

experiment with similar results.

Figure 18. Silencing of Neu expression by LentishRNA construct R2. HT1080 cells engineered to

B

116





silencing (scrambled) shRNA lentiviral vector (NSC, 4.7 x 10^8 TU/ml) where 10 μ l corresponded to MOI ~23 (NSC). Lysates were

collected 8 days post-infection, and 10 µg were loaded per lane for separation by western blot (A). A small standard curve of dilutions from the NSC 10 μ l infection is included for comparison with Neu protein levels in samples infected with R2 silencing construct. The Neu protein levels in the 5, 2.5, and 1 μ g standard curve lanes approximately correspond to 50%, 25%, and 10% residual Neu expression. (B) PVDF membranes were scanned with a Typhoon Trio and quantified using ImageQuant software. This experiment was performed in technical duplicate and was repeated in a second biological experiment with similar results.

Figure 19. Silencing of Neu expression by LentishRNA construct R2. HT1080 cells engineered to

stably express the rat cDNA encoding Her2/Neu (HTN1 cells) were infected in duplicate wells of a

6 well dish with 0 μ l (mock), 1 μ l, or 10 μ l doses

of lentiviral shRNA R2. Viral titer of 3.2 x 108 TU/ml corresponds to MOI ~16 for 10 μ l R2. A

similar infection was carried out with a non-

117



Figure 20. Silencing of Neu expression by LentishRNA construct R3. HT1080 cells engineered to stably express the rat cDNA encoding Her2/Neu (HTN1 cells) were infected in duplicate wells of a 6 well dish with 0 μ l (mock), 1 μ l, or 10 μ l doses of lentiviral shRNA R3. Viral titer of 1.8 x 108 TU/ml corresponds to MOI ~9 for 10 μ l R3. A similar infection was carried out with a nonsilencing (scrambled) shRNA lentiviral vector (NSC, 4.7 x 10^8 TU/ml) where 10 μ l corresponded to MOI ~23 (NSC). Lysates were collected 8 days post-infection, and 10 μ g were loaded per lane for separation by western blot (A). A small standard curve of dilutions from the NSC 10 μ l infection is included for comparison with Neu protein levels in samples infected with R3 silencing construct. The Neu protein levels in the 5, 2.5, and 1 μ g standard curve lanes approximately correspond to 50%, 25%, and 10% residual Neu expression. (B) PVDF membranes were scanned with a Typhoon Trio and quantified using ImageQuant software. This



Figure 21. Silencing of Neu expression by LentishRNA construct R3. HT1080 cells engineered to stably express the rat cDNA encoding Her2/Neu (HTN1 cells) were infected in duplicate wells of a 6 well dish with 0 μ l (mock), 1 μ l, or 10 μ l doses of lentiviral shRNA R3. Viral titer of 1.8 x 108 TU/ml corresponds to MOI ~9 for 10 μ l R3. A similar infection was carried out with a nonsilencing (scrambled) shRNA lentiviral vector (NSC, 4.7 x 10^8 TU/ml) where 10 μ l corresponded to MOI ~23 (NSC). Lysates were collected 8 days post-infection, and 10 µg were loaded per lane for separation by western blot (A). A small standard curve of dilutions from the NSC 10 μ l infection is included for comparison with Neu protein levels in samples infected with R3 silencing construct. The Neu protein levels in the 5, 2.5, and 1 μ g standard curve lanes approximately correspond to 50%, 25%, and 10% residual Neu expression. (B) PVDF membranes were scanned with a Typhoon Trio and quantified using ImageQuant software. This experiment was performed in technical duplicate and was repeated in a second biological experiment with similar results.



Figure 22 – Neu expression in HTN cells following lenti-shRNA treatment. Lenti-shRNA viruses were used to infect HTN cells, and are marked with eGFP (**A-D**), while no GFP signal is visible in mock-infected cells (**E**). Compared with NSC-infected cells (**I**), decreased Neu protein expression (**F**, **G**, **H**) is observed following treatment with indicated Lenti-shRNAs. The proportion of cells expressing high and low quantities was established in multiple random fields (**R**). DAPI staining marks nuclei (**K-O**). Parental HT1080 cells stained with primary and secondary antibody serve as a negative control in these experiments (**P**,**Q**). Scale bars, 100 µm.